
ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
Monday, May 15, 2023 - 5:00 PM

City Hall Council Chambers - 385 Goliad St., Rockwall, TX 75087

I. Call Public Mee2ng to Order

II. Execu2ve Session.
The City of Rockwall City Council will Recess into Execu2ve Session to discuss the following ma7er
as authorized by Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code:

1. Discussion regarding appointment of Mayor Pro Tem and assignments for city council
subcommittees and board liaisons, pursuant to Section, §551.074 (Personnel Matters)

2. Discussion regarding process associated with filling upcoming vacancy for City Council Member -
Place 4, pursuant to Sec)on 551.074 (Personnel Ma*ers) and Sec)on §551.071
(Consultation with Attorney)

3. Discussion regarding city noise and nuisance-related ordinances, pursuant to Sec)on §551.071
(Consultation with Attorney)

III. Adjourn Execu2ve Session

IV. Reconvene Public Mee2ng (6:00 P.M.)

V. Invoca2on and Pledge of Allegiance - Councilmember Lewis

VI. Proclama2ons / Awards / Recogni2ons / Oaths of Office

1. Swearing in of the following Newly Elected City Councilmembers by Matthew R. Scott,
Presiding Judge - Rockwall Municipal Court:

Tim McCallum - Place 1
Clarence Jorif - Place 3
Dennis Lewis - Place 5
Trace Johannesen - Mayor

Mayor's report regarding goals for this term of office

2. Older Americans Month Proclamation
3. Police Memorial Week Proclamation
4. Public Works Week Proclamation

VII. Open Forum

This is a �me for anyone to address the Council and public on any topic not already listed on the agenda or set for a
public hearing. Per Council policy, public comments should be limited to three minutes out of respect for other ci�zens'
�me. If you have a topic that warrants longer �me, please contact the City Secretary at kteague@rockwall.com to be
placed on the Agenda during the "Appointment Items" por�on of the mee�ng. This will allow your topic to be
provided sufficient �me for discussion and will permit proper no�ce to be given to the public. On topics raised during
Open Forum, please know Council is not permi(ed to respond to your comments during the mee�ng since the topic
has not been specifically listed on the agenda (the Texas Open Mee�ngs Act requires that topics of
discussion/delibera�on be posted on an agenda not less than 72 hours in advance of the Council mee�ng). This, in
part, is so that other citizens who may have the same concern may also be involved in the discussion.

VIII. Take any Ac2on as a Result of Execu2ve Session

IX. Consent Agenda

11



These agenda items are rou�ne/administra�ve in nature, have previously been discussed at a prior City Council
mee�ng, and/or they do not warrant Council delibera�on. If you would like to discuss one of these items, please let
the City Secretary know before the meeting starts so that you may speak during "Open Forum."

1. Consider approval of the minutes from the May 1, 2023 city council mee)ng, and take any ac)on
necessary.

2. P2023-010 - Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of
the Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, LLC for the approval of a Master Plat for the Discovery
Lakes Subdivision consis)ng of 289 single-family residen)al lots on a 316.315-acre tract of land
iden)fied as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, Abstract No. 100 and Tract 2 of the R. K. Brisco
Survey, Abstract No. 16, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development
District 78 (PD-78) for General Retail (GR) District and Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District land uses,
generally located at the northeast corner of the intersec)on of SH-276 and Rochelle Road, and
take any action necessary.

3. P2023-011 - Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of
the Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, LLC for the approval of a Preliminary Plat for Phase 2 of the
Discovery Lakes Subdivision consis)ng of 31 single-family residen)al lots on a 27.465-acre por)on
of a larger 174.5990-acre tract of land iden)fied as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, Abstract
No. 100, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 78 (PD-78)
Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District land uses, generally located at the northeast corner of the
intersection of SH-276 and Rochelle Road, and take any action necessary.

4. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract for emergency repairs for the Heath
Pump Sta)on with Crescent Construc)on, Inc., in an amount not to exceed $249,541.00, to be
funded out of the Water and Sewer Fund, and take any action necessary.

5. Consider awarding a bid to Magnum Manhole and authorizing the City Manager to execute
associated contract(s) in an amount not to exceed $125,000 for the rehabilita)on of 20 manholes
within the city - to be funded by the Wastewater Opera)ng Budget - and take any ac)on
necessary.

X. Appointment Items

1. Appointment with Planning & Zoning Commission representa)ve to discuss and answer any
questions regarding planning-related cases on the agenda.

XI. Public Hearing Items

If you would like to speak regarding an item listed below, please turn in a (yellow) "Request to Address City Council"
form to the City Secretary either before the mee�ng or as you approach the podium. The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem
will call upon you to come forth at the proper time. Please limit your comments to no more than three minutes.

1. Z2023-021 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by James Stringfellow and
Bethany Rood of S)ngfellow Holdings, LLC for the approval of an ordinance for a Zoning Change
from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District for a 1.2811-acre parcel
of land iden)fied as Lot 2, Block A, North Alamo Addi)on, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County,
Texas, zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District, situated within the SH-66 Overlay (SH-66 OV)
District, addressed as 405 N. Alamo Road, and take any action necessary (1st Reading).

2. Z2023-022 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by Dub Douphrate of
Douphrate and Associates on behalf of Dewayne Cain for the approval of an ordinance for
a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Freestanding Commercial Antenna on a 0.1234-acre tract of land
iden)fied as a por)on of Tract 14 of the D. Harr Survey, Abstract No. 102, City of Rockwall,
Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) for Single-Family 1 (SF-
1) and General Retail (GR) District land uses, situated within the East SH-66 Overlay (E. SH-66 OV)
District, generally located southside of SH-66 east of the intersec)on of SH-66 and Davis Drive, and
take any action necessary (1st Reading).

3. Z2023-023 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider the approval of an ordinance for a Text
Amendment to Ar)cle 04, Permissible Uses, and Ar)cle 13, Definitions, of the Unified Development
Code (UDC) for the purpose of crea)ng an Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales land use, and take
any action necessary (1st Reading).

22



XII. Adjournment

This facility is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available. Request for accommoda)ons or interpre)ve services
must be made 48 hours prior to this mee)ng. Please contact the City Secretary's Office at (972) 771-7700 or FAX (972) 771-7727 for
further information.

The City of Rockwall City Council reserves the right to adjourn into execu)ve session at any )me to discuss any of the ma*ers listed on
the agenda above, as authorized by Texas Government Code ¶ 551.071 (Consulta)on with A*orney) ¶ 551.072 (Delibera)ons about
Real Property) ¶ 551.074 (Personnel Matters) and ¶ 551.087 (Economic Development)

I, Kristy Teague, City Secretary for the City of Rockwall, Texas, do hereby cer)fy that this Agenda was posted at City Hall, in a place
readily accessible to the general public at all )mes, on the 12th day of May, 2023 at 4:30 PM and remained so posted for at least 72
continuous hours preceding the scheduled time of said meeting.

Kristy Teague, City Secretary
or Margaret Delaney, Asst. to the City Sect.

Date Removed

33



 
Proclamation 

 

Whereas, the City of Rockwall includes a growing number of older Americans who 
contribute their time, wisdom, and experience to our community; and 

Whereas, communities benefit when people of all ages, abilities, and backgrounds are 
welcomed, included, and supported; and 

Whereas, Rockwall recognizes our need to create a community that provides services 
and support to older Americans who need to thrive and live independently for as long as 
possible; and 

Whereas, this year’s theme - “Aging Unbound” - offers an opportunity to explore 
diverse aging experiences of Older Americans and discuss how communities can combat 
stereotypes; and 

Whereas, Rockwall can work to build an even better community for our older 
residents by: 

• planning programs that encourage independence; 

• ensuring activities are responsive to individual needs and preferences; and 

• increasing access to services that support aging in place. 
 

Now, Therefore, I, Trace Johannesen, Mayor of the City of Rockwall, do hereby 

proclaim the month of MMaayy  22002233 as:  
 

OOllddeerr  AAmmeerriiccaannss  MMoonntthh  
 

in the City of Rockwall and urge every resident to recognize the contributions of our older 
citizens, help to create an inclusive society, and join efforts to support older Americans’ 
choices about how they age in their communities. 
 

In Witness Whereof, I hereunto affix my hand and official seal this 15th day 
of May, 2023.  

        
  Trace Johannesen, Mayor 

44



 
Proclamation 

 

Whereas, more than 800,000 law enforcement officers serve across the U.S., 
including all the dedicated, sworn members of the Rockwall Police Department; and  

Whereas, since the first recorded police death in 1786, over 23,000 law enforcement 
officers have been killed in the line of duty, and 23,229 names are currently engraved on 
the walls of the National Law Enforcement Officers Memorial; and 

Whereas, according to the most recent FBI Uniform Crime Report, 60,105 assaults 
against law enforcement officers occurred in 2020, resulting in 18,568 injuries; and  

Whereas, the New York City Police Department has lost more officers in the line of 
duty than any other in the nation with Texas having lost 1,981 officers – more than any 
other state in the nation; and  

Whereas, in 2023, the names of  556 officers killed in the line of duty will be added 
to the National Law Enforcement Officers Memorial, including 224 killed in 2022 and an 
additional 332 officers who passed away in previous years; and 

Whereas, May 15 is nationally designated as “Peace Officers Memorial Day” in 
honor of fallen officers and their families, and U.S. flags are flown at half-staff that day. 

Now, Therefore, I, Trace Johannesen, Mayor of the City of Rockwall, Texas, do 

hereby proclaim May 14 – 20, 2023 as 

PPoolliiccee  MMeemmoorriiaall  WWeeeekk  
in the City of Rockwall, and urge all citizens to honor the memories of law enforcement 
officers killed in the line of duty and to applaud the service of law enforcement officers who 
continue to protect our communities and help safeguard our democracy. 

In Witness Whereof, I hereunto affix my hand and official seal this 15th 
day of May, 2023.  

  Trace Johannesen, Mayor 

Rockwall
 

Texas 

55



 
 

 

Whereas, Public works services provided in our community are an integral part 
of our citizens’ everyday lives; and 

Whereas, the support of understanding informed citizens is vital to the efficient 
operation of public works systems and programs such as water, sanitary and storm 
sewers, streets and alleys, as well as providing support for various city departments; and 

Whereas, the health, safety and comfort of this community greatly depends on 
these facilities and services; and 

Whereas, the quality and effectiveness of these facilities, as well as their 
planning, design and construction, is vitally dependent upon the efforts and skill of public 
works officials; and 

Whereas, the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated personnel who staff public 
works departments is materially influenced by the public’s attitude and understanding of 
the importance of the work they perform. 

Whereas, National Public Works Week is a celebration of the tens of thousands 
of men and women in North America who provide and maintain the infrastructure and 
services collectively know as “public works.” 
 

Now, Therefore, I, Trace Johannesen, Mayor of the City of Rockwall, do 
hereby proclaim the week of MMaayy  2211--2277,,  22002233, as: 

 

PPUUBBLLIICC  WWOORRKKSS  WWEEEEKK  
 

in the City of Rockwall, and encourage all citizens to acquaint themselves with the efforts 
involved in providing our city’s “public works” and to recognize the contributions public 
works officials make every day to our health, safety, comfort and quality of life. 
 

In Witness Whereof, I hereunto affix my hand and official seal this 15th day 
of May, 2023. 
 
 
 
 

  Trace Johannesen, Mayor 

Rockwall, Texas 
Proclamation 

66



MINUTES  
ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

Monday, May 01, 2023 - 5:00 PM  
City Hall Council Chambers - 385 Goliad St., Rockwall, TX 75087  

      
I.  

 
CALL PUBLIC MEETING TO ORDER  

 
Mayor Fowler called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. Present were Mayor Kevin Fowler, Mayor Pro 
Tem Trace Johannesen and Councilmembers Dennis Lewis, Clarence Jorif, Anna Campbell, Bennie 
Daniels and Mark Moeller. Also present were City Manager Mary Smith, Assistant City Manager Joey 
Boyd and City Attorney Frank Garza. Mayor Fowler then read the below-listed discussion items into the 
record before recessing the public meeting to go into Executive Session.    

II.  
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION.    
THE CITY OF ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL WILL RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS THE FOLLOWING MATTER AS 
AUTHORIZED BY CHAPTER 551 OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE:  

  
1.  Discussion regarding possible sale/purchase/lease of real property in the vicinity of the downtown 

area, pursuant to Section §551.072 (Real Property) and Section §551.071 (Consultation with Attorney)   
2.  Discussion regarding process associated with filling upcoming vacancy for City Council Member - 

Place 4, pursuant to Section 551.074 (Personnel Matters) and Section §551.071 
(Consultation with Attorney)   

3.  Discussion regarding status of North TX Municipal Water District (NTMWD) v. City of Heath lawsuit, 
pursuant to Section 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney) 

III.  
 
ADJOURN EXECUTIVE SESSION  

Council adjourned from Ex. Session at 5:57 p.m. 
 

IV.  
 
RECONVENE PUBLIC MEETING (6:00 P.M.)  

 
Mayor Fowler reconvened the public meeting at 6:00 p.m. with all seven council members being 
present.    

V.   INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - COUNCILMEMBER MOELLER 
 
Councilmember Moeller delivered the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
      

VI.  
 
PROCLAMATIONS / AWARDS / RECOGNITIONS  

 
1.  Lemonade Day Proclamation - Rockwall Area Chamber of 

Commerce  
2.  Professional Municipal Clerks Week Proclamation  
3.  National Day of Prayer Proclamation  
4.  Mental Health Awareness Month Proclamation  
5.  Rockwall County's Sesquicentennial Recognition Day Proclamation  
6.  Recognition of outgoing city councilmembers - Bennie Daniels 

(Place 1) and Kevin Fowler (Mayor) 

77



Mayor Fowler read and presented each of the above noted proclamations (#s 1 – 5) to respective 
representatives who were present to accept each one. Regarding item #6 above, Mayor Fowler read 
a proclamation recognizing Councilmember Bennie Daniels for his years of dedicated service on the 
Rockwall City Council. Councilman Daniels briefly spoke, generally expressing gratitude to his Lord 
and Savior, Jesus Christ, his wife of nearly 61 years, Gloria, his fellow council members, city staff and 
the citizens of Rockwall. Mayor Pro Tem Johannesen then came forth and presented a proclamation 
to Mayor Kevin Fowler, recognizing him for his service as a councilman and as mayor of the city. 
Mayor Fowler expressed gratitude to his family, friends, staff, and the public for allowing him the 
opportunity to serve. Thereafter, Michael Caffey, on behalf of the Rockwall Professional Firefighters 
Association, then came forth and provided brief remarks, thanking Councilman Daniels and Mayor 
Fowler for all of their support of public safety and for their years of service to the city. 
 
Mayor Fowler explained how Open Forum is conducted, asking if anyone would like to come forth 
and speak at this time. 
 

VII.  
 
OPEN FORUM  

 
Jim Pruitt 
209 Stonebridge 
Rockwall, TX 
 
Former Mayor, Jim Pruitt came forth and shared that her daughter, who is currently on the Youth 
Advisory Council and is a high school student now, was six years old when he first began serving on 
Council. He went on to provide brief comments of gratitude to both Councilmember Daniels and 
Mayor Fowler for their service to this city and its citizens. 
 
Tisa White 
3718 Huntcliff Drive 
Rockwall, TX 
 
Mrs. White came forth and shared that this is her third visit to City Council to express concerns about 
The Northside (Bar and Grill) and the noise emitting from this business. She thanked Councilmember 
Jorif in particular for the attention and work he has given to the noise concerns. She shared that the 
noise is invasive, and it is daily and it is ‘hour after hour.’ Despite multiple requests to the owners to 
lower the volume, she and her neighbors are repeatedly subjected to loud noise in their backyards and 
in their homes. She shared that she emailed Council Members a photo today that shows grass that has 
been worn down behind her home from patrons walking to/from The Northside venue. She expressed 
that the venue is a good idea; however, it is not located in an appropriate location. She earnestly urged 
Council to not ‘sweep this under the rug’ but rather go ahead and extend the city’s noise ordinance 
regulations to beyond 500’ of the city limits line. 
 
Mayor Fowler shared that the city is working to put up ‘no parking signs.’ Fowler went on to share that 
the proposed ordinance sets a ‘55’ decibel limit, and it has to be measured for a 30 minute time period. 
So if the noise drops below that level during a 30 minute timeframe, the clock resets. So, he believes 
that an ordinance won’t solve the problem. So, he eagerly suggested that an alternative, better solution 
needs to be found. 
 
 

88



Jennifer Dayman 
519 Cellars Court 
Rockwall, TX 
 
Mrs. Dayman shared that she has concerns about noise emitting from The Northside Bar & Grill. She 
believes that extending the city’s noise ordinance to 500’ beyond the city’s city limit line is reasonable. 
She believes she has a right to live in peace without the noise, just like any other city resident who lives 
elsewhere in the city (not so near the city limits line). She reiterated that she and her neighbors live 
with the noise daily, and it is difficult to not view that the concerns are being ‘swept under the rug.’ She 
thanked Councilmember Jorif for visiting her and her neighbors’ homes to truly listen and experience 
what she and her neighbors are experiencing regularly.  
 
Yvonne Sullivan 
521 Cellars Court 
Rockwall, TX 
 
Mrs. Sullivan also has concerns about The Northside Bar & Grill. She agrees with Mrs. Dayman’s support 
of extending the city’s noise ordinance to beyond 500’ of the city limits line. She understands the 
business exists in the county’s jurisdiction, and she blames the county a lot for what all is occurring at 
that business. She explained that the land on which the business sits is surrounded by neighborhoods 
and homes, and it is just not in a good location. She is upset about the possibility of having to be forced 
to sell her home and leave. She believes she has lost a lot of home value as a result of these concerns, 
and it will be difficult to sell her home if she has to do so. She shares that at 10:30 AM this past Sunday 
morning, she heard karaoke (“practice”). Then, it started back up later that afternoon around 4:30 p.m. 
She does not believe that them closing at 10:00 p.m. is ‘fair,’ and it is not desirable to the neighbors 
who are impacted. She will appreciate and welcome any ideas and help the city may be able to provide. 
 
Karla Mussetter 
516 Cellars Court 
Rockwall, TX 
 
Mrs. Mussetter shared that she has lived in that home for almost 32 years, and her home was the first 
one built on the cul-de-sac. Her neighbors are all wonderful, and they are all reflective of what Rockwall 
represents. They are all good people, and they exhibit “the Golden Rule.” She expressed concern about 
the very loud music that continues to emit from The Northside Bar & Grill. She is not able to sit out and 
read a book on her back porch because of all of the loud, loud music and karaoke that emits from the 
venue. This is the first time in 32 years that she has come to a Council meeting, so this is a very important 
topic. She thanked Councilmember Jorif for coming out yesterday and for spending at least an hour to 
listen and observe the loud music and discuss the concerns. She urged Council to help in any way 
possible and to be reasonable about helping to solve the concerns. 
 
There being no one else wishing to come forth and speak, Mayor Fowler closed Open Forum.    

VIII.  
 
TAKE ANY ACTION AS A RESULT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION  

 
Mayor Pro Tem Johannesen moved to authorize the city manager to negotiate and execute an 
agreement with the Cain Irrevocable Family Trust for land uses in downtown Rockwall. Councilmember 
Jorif seconded the motion, which passed unanimously of Council (7 ayes to 0 nays). 

99



   

IX.  
 
CONSENT AGENDA  

 
1.  Consider approval of the minutes from the April 17, 2023 regular city council meeting, and take any 

action necessary.  
2.  Z2023-014 - Consider a request by Julius Waffer for the approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use 

Permit (SUP) for Residential Infill in an Established Subdivision on a 1.0620-acre parcel of land identified 
as Lot 22 of the Canup Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single-Family 7 (SF-7) 
District, situated within the Southside Residential Neighborhood Overlay (SRO) District, addressed as 
512 Dickey Street, and take any action necessary (2nd Reading).  

3.  Z2023-015 - Consider a request by Martha Balleza and Ana Quezada for the approval of an ordinance 
for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for Residential Infill in an Established Subdivision on a 0.1650-acre parcel 
of land identified as Lot 1290 of the Lake Rockwall Estates #2 Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall 
County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 75 (PD-75) for Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District, 
addressed as 223 Russell Drive, and take any action necessary (2nd Reading).  

4.  Z2023-017 - Consider a request by Javier Silva on behalf of Nixon Estate and Judy Wible the approval 
of an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for Residential Infill in an Established Subdivision on a 
0.16-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 11, Block C, Foree Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, 
Texas, zoned Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District, addressed as 711 Parks Avenue, and take any action 
necessary (2nd Reading).  

5.  Z2023-019 - Consider the approval of an ordinance for a Text Amendment to Article 04, Permissible 
Uses, and Article 13, Definitions, of the Unified Development Code (UDC) to create a Credit Access 
Business land use, and take any action necessary (2nd  Reading).  

6.  Z2023-020 - Consider the approval of an ordinance for an Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan for 
the purpose of adopting changes to the Master Thoroughfare Plan contained in Appendix ‘C’, Maps, 
and take any action necessary (2nd Reading).  

7.  P2023-008 - Consider a request by Daniel Boswell of RIV Properties on behalf of Brad Boswell of RIV 
Properties for the approval of a Conveyance Plat for Lots 1 & 2, Block A, George Morton Estates 
Addition being a 3.59-acre tract of land identified as Lots 1 & 2, Block 1; Lots 1, 2, 3, & 4, Block 2; Lots 
1, 2, 3, & 4, Block 3; Lots 1, 2, 3, & 4, Block 5; Lots 1 & 2 and a portion of Lots 3 & 4, Block 6; Lots 2, 3, 
& 4, Block 7; Lots 1 & 2, Block 8; and Lots 1, 2, 3, & 4, Block 9, Moton Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall 
County, Texas, situated within the Hillside Mixed Use Subdistrict and the Horizon/Summer Lee 
Subdistrict of Planned Development District 32 (PD-32), generally located at the southwest corner of 
the intersection of Horizon Road and Summer Lee Drive, and take any action necessary.  

8.  P2023-009 - Consider a request by Bob Pruett of Urban Structure on behalf of Garrett Poindexter of 
Cambridge Properties, LLC for the approval of a Final Plat for Lots 1 & 2, Block A, Cambridge Estates 
Addition being a 6.247-acre tract of land identified as Tract 3 of the J. M. Allen Survey, Abstract No. 2, 
City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 10 (PD-10) for 
Commercial (C) District land uses, situated within the SH-205 By-Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District 
and the SH-276 Overlay (SH-276 OV) District, situated at the southeast corner of the intersection of 
John King Boulevard and Discovery Boulevard, and take any action necessary. 

 
Councilmember Lewis moved to approve the entire Consent Agenda (#s 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8). 
Councilmember Campbell seconded the motion. The ordinance captions were read as follows: 

 
CITY OF ROCKWALL 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-27 
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-302 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 
CODE (UDC) [ORDINANCE NO. 20-02] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 

1010



ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, SO AS 
TO GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT (SUP) FOR RESIDENTIAL INFILL 
IN AN ESTABLISHED SUBDIVISION TO ALLOW THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF A SINGLE-FAMILY HOME ON A 1.0620-ACRE 
PARCEL OF LAND, IDENTIFIED AS LOT 22 OF THE CANUP 
ADDITION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS; 
AND MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED AND DEPICTED IN 
EXHIBIT ‘A’ OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL 
CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO 
EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR 
EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
CITY OF ROCKWALL 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-28 
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-303 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 75 (PD-75) [ORDINANCE NO. 16-01] AND THE UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT CODE (UDC) [ORDINANCE NO. 20-02] OF THE CITY 
OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY 
AMENDED, SO AS TO GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT (SUP) FOR 
RESIDENTIAL INFILL IN AN ESTABLISHED SUBDIVISION TO ALLOW 
THE CONSTRUCTION OF A SINGLE-FAMILY HOME ON A 0.1690-
ACRE PARCEL OF LAND, IDENTIFIED AS LOT 1290 OF THE LAKE 
ROCKWALL ESTATES #2 ADDITION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS; AND MORE SPECIFICALLY 
DESCRIBED AND DEPICTED IN EXHIBIT ‘A’ OF THIS ORDINANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A 
PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 
ORDINANCE NO. 23-29 

SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-304 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 
CODE (UDC) [ORDINANCE NO. 20-02] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, SO AS 
TO GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT (SUP) FOR RESIDENTIAL INFILL 
IN AN ESTABLISHED SUBDIVISION TO ALLOW THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF A SINGLE-FAMILY HOME ON A 0.16-ACRE 
PARCEL OF LAND, IDENTIFIED AS LOT 11, BLOCK C, FOREE 
ADDITION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS; 
AND MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED AND DEPICTED IN 
EXHIBIT ‘A’ OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL 
CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO 
EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR 
EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

1111



 
CITY OF ROCKWALL 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-30 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE NO. 
20-02] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, AS HERETOFORE AMENDED, BY 
AMENDING ARTICLE 04, PERMISSIBLE USES, AND ARTICLE 13, 
DEFINITIONS, AS DEPCITED IN EXHIBIT ‘A’ OF THIS ORDINANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR 
A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 
ORDINANCE NO. 23-31 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, ADOPTING REVISIONS TO THE MASTER THOROUGHFARE PLAN 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE OURHOMETOWN VISION 2040 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY’S HOME RULE 
CHARTER. 

 
The motion to approve the Consent Agenda passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 
 

X.  
 
APPOINTMENT ITEMS  

 
1.  Appointment with representatives of the City of Rockwall Youth Advisory Council (YAC) to 

hear year-end program report and recognize graduating high schools seniors. 

Jaxson Stuart, James Martinez and Emily Nielsen came forth and briefed Council on the various 
activities they and their YAC peers were involved in throughout this school year. The YAC members 
thanked City Secretary Kristy Teague and Councilmembers Jorif and Campbell for the work they do 
related to the YAC program and its students each school year. Councilmembers Jorif and Campbell, 
along with Mrs. Teague, then recognized three graduating high school seniors – Karmen Fumey-
Nassah, Morgan Crosby and Jaxson Stuart, wishing each of them well in their future endeavors. 
They also recognized Payton Larson, whose family is moving away soon to Florida.  No action was 
taken by Council related to this agenda item. 
 

XI.   ACTION ITEMS 
 

1.  Discuss and consider (re)appointments to the city's Historic Preservation Advisory Board and 
the Main Street Advisory Board, and take any action necessary. 

Councilmember Moeller moved to appoint Chad Fogg to begin serving on the city’s Main Street 
Advisory Board for an initial term to run through January of 2025. Councilmember Campbell 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (7 - 0). 
 
Councilmember Moeller then moved to appoint Alison McNeely to the Historic Preservation 
Advisory Board for a term to run through August of 2024 and to reappoint Tiffany Miller, whose 
term will also run through August of 2024. Councilmember Jorif seconded the motion, which passed 
by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 
 

1212



XII.  
 
CITY MANAGER'S REPORT, DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS AND RELATED DISCUSSIONS PERTAINING TO CURRENT CITY 
ACTIVITIES, UPCOMING MEETINGS, FUTURE LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITIES, AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS.  

 
1.  Building Inspections Department Monthly Report - March 2023  
2.  Fire Department Monthly Report - March 2023  
3.  Police Department Monthly Report - March 2023  
4.  Parks & Recreation Monthly Report - March 2023  
5.  Sales Tax Historical Comparison  
6.  Water Consumption Historical Statistics 

On behalf of city staff, City Manager Mary Smith expressed gratitude to both Councilmember 
Daniels and Mayor Fowler for their service on the City Council, sharing that each of them will surely 
be missed. 
 

XIII.  
 
ADJOURNMENT     

Mayor Fowler adjourned the meeting at 7:15 p.m. 

1313



MEMORANDUM
TO: Mary Smith, City Manager

CC: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning

DATE: May 15, 2023

SUBJECT: P2023-010; MASTER PLAT FOR THE DISCOVERY LAKES SUBDIVISION

Attachments
Case Memo
Development Application
Location Map
Applicant's Letter
Master Plat

Summary/Background Information
Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of the
Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, LLC for the approval of a Master Plat for the Discovery
Lakes Subdivision consisting of 289 single-family residential lots on a 316.315-acre tract of land
identified as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, Abstract No. 100 and Tract 2 of the R. K.
Brisco Survey, Abstract No. 16, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned
Development District 78 (PD-78) for General Retail (GR) District and Single-Family 10 (SF-10)
District land uses, generally located at the northeast corner of the intersection of SH-276 and
Rochelle Road, and take any action necessary.

Action Needed
The City Council is being asked to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the
proposed Master Plat.

1414



PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 1 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 
CITY COUNCIL MEMORANDUM 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 

385 S. GOLIAD STREET • ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 • EMAIL: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

DATE: May 15, 2023 

APPLICANT: Cameron Slown; Teague, Nall, & Perkins, Inc. 

CASE NUMBER: P2023-010; Master Plat for the Discovery Lakes Subdivision 

SUMMARY 

Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of the Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, 
LLC for the approval of a Master Plat for the Discovery Lakes Subdivision consisting of 289 single-family residential lots on a 
316.315-acre tract of land identified as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, Abstract No. 100 and Tract 2 of the R. K. Brisco 
Survey, Abstract No. 16, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 78 (PD-78) for General 
Retail (GR) District and Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District land uses, generally located at the northeast corner of the intersection 
of SH-276 and Rochelle Road, and take any action necessary. 

PLAT INFORMATION 

 Purpose. The applicant is requesting the approval of an amending Master Plat for the Discovery Lakes Subdivision. The
Discovery Lakes Subdivision will be constructed in eight (8) phases that will consist of 289 residential lots on a 316.315-
acre tract of land (i.e. Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, Abstract No. 100 and Tract 2 of the R. K. Brisco Survey, Abstract
No. 16). The proposed Master Plat changes the lot sizes for Phases 2 & 3 from the Type B & C lots (i.e. Lot Type B: 70’ x
110, or 7,700 SF minimums and Lot Type C: 60’ x 110’ or 6,600 SF minimums) to Lot Type A lots (i.e. 80’ x 200’ and 32,670
SF minimums). A Master Plat indicates the phasing lines, location of the trails and open space, and the approximate location
of the 100-year floodplain.  Staff should note that in conjunction with the submittal of this Master Plat, the applicant has also
submitted a Preliminary Plat (Case No. P2023-011) for Phase 2 of the Discovery Lakes Subdivision.

 Background. The subject property was annexed by the City Council on June 15, 1998 by Ordinance No. 98-20 (Case No.
A1998-002). At the time of annexation, the subject property was zoned Agricultural (AG) District. On July 5, 2005, the City
Council approved Ordinance No. 05-29 (Case No. Z2005-021) changing the zoning of the subject property from an
Agricultural (AG) District to a Light Industrial (LI) District. On August 17, 2015, the zoning designation of the subject property
was again changed by Ordinance No. 15-24 (Case No. Z2015-016) from a Light Industrial (LI) District to Planned
Development District 78 (PD-78) for Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District and limited General Retail (GR) District land uses.
The City Council amended Planned Development District 78 (PD-78) on August 3, 2020 through the adoption of Ordinance
No. 20-27. On November 2, 2020, the City Council approved a master plat (Case No. P2020-039) and preliminary plat
(Case No. P2020-040) for the subject property. On November 15, 2021, the City Council approved a final plat (Case No.
P2021-053) for a portion of the subject property being Phase 1 of the Discovery Lakes Subdivision.

 Conformance to the Subdivision Ordinance. The surveyor has completed the majority of the technical revisions requested
by staff, and this plat -- conforming to the requirements for plats as stipulated by the Chapter 38, Subdivisions, of the
Municipal Code of Ordinances -- is recommended for conditional approval pending the completion of final technical
modifications and submittal requirements.

 Conditional Approval. Conditional approval of this Master Plat by the City Council shall constitute approval subject to the
conditions stipulated in the Conditions of Approval section below.

1515



 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 2 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
If the City Council chooses to approve the Master Plat for the Discovery Lakes Subdivision staff would propose the following 
conditions of approval: 
 
(1) All technical comments from the Engineering, Planning and Fire Departments shall be addressed prior to the filing of this 

Master Plat; and, 
 
(2) Any construction resulting from the approval of this Master Plat shall conform to the requirements set forth by the Unified 

Development Code (UDC), the International Building Code (IBC), the Rockwall Municipal Code of Ordinances, city adopted 
engineering and fire codes and with all other applicable regulatory requirements administered and/or enforced by the state 
and federal government. 

 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 
On May 9, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission approved a motion to recommend approval of the Master Plat by a vote 
of 7-0. 

1616



1717



1818



1919



2020



2121



MEMORANDUM
TO: Mary Smith, City Manager

CC: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning

DATE: May 15, 2023

SUBJECT: P2023-011; PRELIMINARY PLAT FOR PHASE 2 OF THE DISCOVERY
LAKES SUBDIVISION

Attachments
Case Memo
Development Application
Location Map
Applicant's Letter
Preliminary Plat
Preliminary Water and Wastewater Plan

Summary/Background Information
Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of the
Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, LLC for the approval of a Preliminary Plat for Phase 2 of
the Discovery Lakes Subdivision consisting of 31 single-family residential lots on a 27.465-acre
portion of a larger 174.5990-acre tract of land identified as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey,
Abstract No. 100, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development
District 78 (PD-78) Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District land uses, generally located at the
northeast corner of the intersection of SH-276 and Rochelle Road, and take any action
necessary.

Action Needed
The City Council is being asked to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the proposed
Preliminary Plat.

2222



 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 1 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 
CITY COUNCIL MEMORANDUM 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 

385 S. GOLIAD STREET • ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 • EMAIL: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

 

 

TO: Mayor and City Council 
 

DATE: May 15, 2023 
 

APPLICANT: Cameron Slown; Teague, Nall, & Perkins, Inc. 
 

CASE NUMBER: P2023-011; Preliminary Plat for Phase 2 of the Discovery Lakes Subdivision 
 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of the Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, 
LLC for the approval of a Preliminary Plat for Phase 2 of the Discovery Lakes Subdivision consisting of 31 single-family 
residential lots on a 27.465-acre portion of a larger 174.5990-acre tract of land identified as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, 
Abstract No. 100, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 78 (PD-78) Single-Family 10 
(SF-10) District land uses, generally located at the northeast corner of the intersection of SH-276 and Rochelle Road, and take 
any action necessary. 
 
PLAT INFORMATION 
 
 Purpose. The purpose of the applicant’s request is to Preliminary Plat a 27.465-acre tract of land (i.e. Tract 1 of the M. E. 

Hawkins Survey, Abstract No. 100) to show the future establishment of 31 Type A (i.e. 80’ x 200’ or 32,670 SF minimum) 
single-family residential lots (i.e. Lots 1-17, Block A; Lots 1-14, Block B, Discovery Lakes Phase 2 Subdivision). The 
proposed Preliminary Plat also lays out the necessary easements (e.g. fire lane, public access/right-of-way, utilities, and 
drainage) for the future development of the residential subdivision.  Staff should note that in conjunction with the submittal 
of this Preliminary Plat, the applicant has also submitted a Master Plat (Case No. P2023-010) to amend the previously 
approved Master Plat (i.e. Case No. P2020-039) 

 
 Background. The subject property was annexed by the City Council on June 15, 1998 by Ordinance No. 98-20 (Case No. 

A1998-002). At the time of annexation, the subject property was zoned Agricultural (AG) District. On July 5, 2005, the City 
Council approved Ordinance No. 05-29 (Case No. Z2005-021) changing the zoning of the subject property from an 
Agricultural (AG) District to a Light Industrial (LI) District. On August 17, 2015, the zoning designation of the subject property 
was again changed by Ordinance No. 15-24 (Case No. Z2015-016) from a Light Industrial (LI) District to Planned 
Development District 78 (PD-78) for Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District and limited General Retail (GR) District land uses. 
The City Council amended Planned Development District 78 (PD-78) on August 3, 2020 through the adoption of Ordinance 
No. 20-27. On November 2, 2020, the City Council approved a master plat (Case No. P2020-039) and preliminary plat 
(Case No. P2020-040) for the subject property. On November 15, 2021, the City Council approved a final plat (Case No. 
P2021-053) for a portion of the subject property being Phase 1 of the Discovery Lakes Subdivision.  

 
 Parks Board. On May 2, 2023, the Parks and Recreation Board reviewed the Preliminary Plat and made the following 

recommendations concerning the proposed subdivision.  
 
(1) The property owner shall pay pro-rata equipment fees of $9,603.80 (i.e. $309.80 x 31 Lots).  

 
(2) The property owner shall pay cash-in-lieu of land fees of $10,233.10 (i.e. $330.10 x 31 Lots). 

 
 Conformance to the Subdivision Ordinance. The surveyor has completed the majority of the technical revisions requested 

by staff, and this plat -- conforming to the requirements for plats as stipulated by the Chapter 38, Subdivisions, of the 
Municipal Code of Ordinances -- is recommended for conditional approval pending the completion of final technical 
modifications and submittal requirements. 
 

2323



 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 2 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

 Conditional Approval. Conditional approval of this Preliminary Plat by the City Council shall constitute approval subject to 
the conditions stipulated in the Conditions of Approval section below. 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
If the City Council chooses to approve the Preliminary Plat for Phase 2 of the Discovery Lakes Subdivision staff would propose 
the following conditions of approval: 
 
(1) All technical comments from the Engineering, Planning and Fire Departments shall be addressed prior to the filing of this 

Preliminary Plat; and, 
 

(2) The development shall adhere to the Parks and Recreation Department's recommendations as outlined above in this case 
memo; and, 

 
(3) Any construction resulting from the approval of this Preliminary Plat shall conform to the requirements set forth by the 

Unified Development Code (UDC), the International Building Code (IBC), the Rockwall Municipal Code of Ordinances, city 
adopted engineering and fire codes and with all other applicable regulatory requirements administered and/or enforced by 
the state and federal government. 

 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 
On May 9, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission approved a motion to recommend approval of the Preliminary Plat by a 
vote of 7-0. 

2424



2525



2626



2727



2828



2929



3030



MEMORANDUM
TO: Mary Smith, City Manager

CC: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Amy Williams, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer

DATE: May 15, 2023

SUBJECT: HEATH STREET PUMP STATION EMERGENCY REPAIR

Attachments
Quote

Summary/Background Information
The Heath Street Pump Station located at 200 Heath Street was constructed in 1960. This
station is one of the chief North Texas Municipal Water District supply locations for the City.
This pump station is in immediate need of repair to a series of 12-inch pipes.

Staff has contacted Crescent Construction, Inc. to make emergency repairs on the pump
station.  The cost of the above emergency repairs is $249,541.00, which exceeds the City's
competitive sealed bid threshold. According to Local Government Code Chapter 252, Section
252.022, General Exceptions to the Competitive Bid Process; Item (2), “… a procurement
necessary to preserve or protect the public health or safety of the municipality's residents …”
may be used to justify the emergency repairs made to the pump station.

Action Needed
Staff is requesting the City Council consider approving an emergency repair of the Heath Street
Pump Station in the amount of $249,541.00 to be funded out of the Water and Sewer Fund.

3131



3232



3333



3434



3535



3636



3737



MEMORANDUM
TO: Mary Smith, City Manager

CC: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Misty Farris, Purchasing Agent

DATE: May 15, 2023

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF MANHOLE REHABILITATION PROJECT
CONTRACT

Attachments

Summary/Background Information
Approved in the Water Sewer Fund, Wastewater operating budget is $125,000 to rehab
approximately 30 manholes.  Project involves cleaning, remove debris, remove existing lining
(coating) and concrete, prepare all surfaces and recoat the manholes.  Sealed competitive bids
were solicited for this project.  Bids received from Magnum Manhole $173,233, and Ace Pipe
$400,635.  Apparent low bidder is Magnum Manhole. 

Staff would like to move forward with this project by rehabbing approximately 20 manholes to
stay within budget of $125,000.  The remaining manholes included in the bid will be budgeted
for rehab in FY 2024 for approximately $48,223.

Action Needed
For Council consideration is the bid award to Magnum Manhole for $125,000 and authorize the
City Manager to execute a contract for this project.

3838



MEMORANDUM
TO: Mary Smith, City Manager

CC: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning

DATE: May 15, 2023

SUBJECT: Z2023-021; ZONING CHANGE FROM SINGLE-FAMILY 10 (SF-10)
DISTRICT TO A SINGLE-FAMILY 7 (SF-7) DISTRICT

Attachments
Case Memo
Development Application
Location Map
HOA Notification Map
Property Owner Notification Map
Property Owner Notification List
Public Notice
Property Owner Notifications
Applicant's Letter
Survey
Draft Ordinance

Summary/Background Information
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by James Stringfellow and Bethany
Rood of Stingfellow Holdings, LLC for the approval of an ordinance for a Zoning Change from
a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District for a 1.2811-acre parcel
of land identified as Lot 2, Block A, North Alamo Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County,
Texas, zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District, situated within the SH-66 Overlay (SH-66 OV)
District, addressed as 405 N. Alamo Road, and take any action necessary (1st Reading).

Action Needed
The City Council is being asked to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the proposed
Zoning Change.

3939



 

 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 1 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 
CITY COUNCIL CASE MEMO 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 

385 S. GOLIAD STREET • ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 • EMAIL: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

 

 

TO: Mayor and City Council  
 

DATE: May 15, 2023 
 

APPLICANT: James Stringfellow and Brittany Rood 
 

CASE NUMBER: Z2023-021; Zoning Change from Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) 
District 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by James Stringfellow and Brittany Rood of Stringfellow Holdings, LLC 
for the approval of a Zoning Change from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District for a 1.2811-
acre parcel of land identified as Lot 2, Block A, North Alamo Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single-
Family 10 (SF-10) District, situated within the SH-66 Overlay (SH-66 OV) District, addressed as 405 N. Alamo Road, and take 
any action necessary. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The subject property was annexed prior to 1911 based on the April 1911 Sanborn Maps. According to the January 3, 1972 
zoning map, the subject property was zoned Single-Family 2 (SF-2) District.  The zoning designation of the subject property 
changed from a Single-Family 2 (SF-2) District to a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District sometime between January 3, 1972 and 
May 16, 1983 based on the City’s historic zoning maps.  The subject property has remained zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) 
District since this change. On May 16, 2022, the City Council approved a replat [i.e. Case Number P2022-018] for the purpose 
of creating two (2) lots [i.e. Lots 1 & 2, Block A, North Alamo Addition]. 
 
PURPOSE 
 
On April 14, 2023, the applicants -- James Stringfellow and Brittany Rood -- submitted an application requesting to change the 
zoning of the subject property from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District for the purpose of 
subdividing the property into two (2) lots to allow the construction of two (2) single-family homes. 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES AND ACCESS 
 
The subject property is addressed as 405 N. Alamo Road.  The land uses adjacent to the subject property are as follows: 

 
North: Directly north of the subject property are three (3) residential lots (i.e. 503, 505, & 601 N. Alamo Road) that form part 

of the Amick Subdivision, which consists of 38 residential lots on 9.79-acres of land zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) 
District. Beyond this are three (3) additional residential lots (i.e. 603, 605, & 703 N. Alamo Road) that make up the 
Alamo Valley Subdivision, and are zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District. North of these properties are N. West 
Street and W. Heath Street, which are identified as Minor Collectors on the City’s Master Thoroughfare Plan contained 
in the OURHometown Vision 2040 Comprehensive Plan. 

 
South: Directly south of the subject property is one (1) vacant tract of land (i.e. Lots 2, 3, & 6, Block A, Old Town Rockwall 

Addition) and two (2) lots addressed as 301 & 303 N. Alamo Road.  These properties are currently being used for 
retail or office land uses (i.e. Candles by Carol and Bedford Survey). Beyond this is E. Interurban Street, which is 
identified as a Minor Collector on the City’s Master Thoroughfare Plan contained in the OURHometown Vision 2040 
Comprehensive Plan. South of this are four (4) lots addressed as 201 N. West Street, 204 N. West Street, 201 N. 
Alamo Road, and 203 N. Alamo Road. Beyond this is W. Kaufman Street, which is identified as a Minor Collector on 
the City’s Master Thoroughfare Plan contained in the OURHometown Vision 2040 Comprehensive Plan. 

4040



 

 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 2 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

 
East: Directly east of the subject property is N. Alamo Road, which is identified as a Minor Collector on the City’s Master 

Thoroughfare Plan contained in the OURHometown Vision 2040 Comprehensive Plan. Beyond this are two (2) tracts 
of land (i.e. Lot 16, Block 18A SW PT, Amick Addition and Lot 20, Block 19C, Amick Addition) that are zoned Single-
Family 7 (SF-7) District. East of these properties is N. Goliad Street, which is identified as a P3U (i.e. principal arterial, 
three (3) lane, undivided roadway) on the City’s Master Thoroughfare Plan contained in the OURHometown Vision 
2040 Comprehensive Plan. 

 
West: Directly west of the subject property is the Highwood Subdivision, which is zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District 

and consists of 74 residential lots on 26.45-acres. Beyond this is the Highland Hills Subdivision, which is zoned Single-
Family 10 (SF-10) District and consists of 59 residential lots on 22.40-acres.  

 
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE REQUEST 
 
The applicant is requesting to rezone the 1.2811-acre parcel of land from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 
7 (SF-7) District for the purpose of subdividing the property into two (2) residential lots to facilitate constructing a single-family 
home on each lot. It should be noted, that if this zoning change is approved, the applicant will be required to subdivide the 
subject property into two (2) buildable lots and apply for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for Residential Infill to allow the construction 
of the future homes.    
 
CONFORMANCE WITH THE CITY’S CODES 
 
According to Subsection 03.09, Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District, of Article 05, District Development Standards, of the Unified 
Development Code (UDC), “(t)he Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District is the proper zoning classification for single-family 
developments with smaller lots… (t)hese developments are typically in areas adjacent to low-intensity non-residential land uses, 
in or around the Old Town Rockwall (OTR) Historic District; where they will serve as a logical transition from higher to lower 
density residential zoning districts.”  In this case, the majority of the properties adjacent to N. Alamo Road are zoned Single-
Family 10 (SF-10) District or Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District, Downtown (DT) District and Planned Development District 50 (PD-
50).  Staff should point out that there are also two (2) properties east of the subject property that are zoned Single-Family 7 (SF-
7) District. In addition, northeast of the property, are nine (9) other properties zoned Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District.  Based on 
this, the requested zoning change does appear to conform to the surrounding area. If the applicant’s zoning request is approved, 
the subject property will be required to conform to all of the requirements stipulated for properties in a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) 
District, which are summarized as follows: 
 

TABLE 1: SINGLE-FAMILY 7 (SF- 7) DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

Number of Dwelling Units/Lot 1.0 
Number of Dwelling Units/Acre 6.2 
Minimum Dwelling Unit  1,100 SF 
Minimum Lot Area  7,000 SF 
Minimum Lot Width  60-Feet 
Minimum Lot Depth  100-Feet 
Minimum Front Yard Setback 20-Feet 
Minimum Rear Yard Setback 10-Feet 
Minimum Side Yard Setback 6-Feet 
Between Buildings 10-Feet 
Building Height 32-Feet 
Maximum Lot Coverage 45% 
Required Parking Spaces 2 

 
CONFORMANCE WITH OURHOMETOWN VISION 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
 
According to the OURHometown Vision 2040 Comprehensive Plan, the subject property is located within the North Lakeshore 
District and is designated for Medium Density Residential land uses. The Medium Density Residential land use is defined as 
“…residential subdivisions that are greater than two and one-half (2 ½) units per gross acre or but not higher than three (3) units 
per gross acre …”.  Based on this the proposed zoning change conforms to the Comprehensive Plan. In addition, the 

4141



 

 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 3 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

OURHometown Vision 2040 Comprehensive Plan seeks to “…(p)reserve the City’s current residential to non-residential land 
use ratio (i.e. 80% Residential; 20% Commercial) in order to maintain a balance mix of land uses for fiscal sustainability …” 
[Section 02.01; CH. 1; Page 1-1].  In this case, the proposed zoning change conforms to the Future Land Use Map contained 
in the OURHometown Vision 2040 Comprehensive Plan, which was designed around the desired 80% / 20% land use ratio.  In 
addition, the proposed zoning change does not change land use ratio.  Based on this the proposed zoning change does not 
affect the current residential to non-residential percentage. 
 
NOTIFICATIONS 
 
On April 18, 2023, staff notified 136 property owners and occupants within 500-feet of the subject property. Staff also notified 
the Preserve Homeowner’s Association (HOA), which was the only Homeowner’s Association (HOA) or Neighborhood 
Organization within 1,500-feet of the subject property participating in the Neighborhood Notification Program.  Additionally, staff 
posted a sign on the subject property, and advertised the public hearings in the Rockwall Herald Banner as required by the 
Unified Development Code (UDC).  At the time this report was written, staff had received two (2) notices in favor, one (1) email 
in favor and one (1) notice in opposition of the applicant’s request. 
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
If the City Council chooses to approve of the applicant’s request to rezone the subject property from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) 
District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District, then staff would propose the following conditions of approval: 

 
(1) Any construction resulting from the approval of this Zoning Change shall conform to the requirements set forth by the Unified 

Development Code (UDC), the International Building Code (IBC), the Rockwall Municipal Code of Ordinances, city adopted 
engineering and fire codes and with all other applicable regulatory requirements administered and/or enforced by the state 
and federal government. 

 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION  
 
On May 9, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission approved a motion to recommend approval of the Zoning Change by a 
vote of 7-0. 
 

4242



4343



4444



4545



4646



RESIDENT 
102 W KAUFMAN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

SPARKS ROBERT & TANA 
103 N 1ST ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
104 W KAUFMAN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
105  OLIVE ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

105 N ALAMO LLC 
105 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75032 
 

 

WIMPEE JOE 
105 W KAUFMAN ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
106 W KAUFMAN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
107 E KAUFMAN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
108  INTERURBAN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

SFR TEXAS ACQUISITIONS 3 LLC 
120 S RIVERSIDE PLAZA #2000 

CHICAGO, IL 60606 
 

 

LEAL CAROL RHEA 
1307 RIDGE ROAD #2317 

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

PLACE TIM & LISANNE 
1531 ZAPATA DR  

EL DORADO HILLS, CA 95762 
 

RAYWAY PROPERTIES LLC 
1572 N MUNSON RD  

ROYSE CITY, TX 75189 
 

 

WRIGHT JOHN M & SUSAN L 
1605 SEASCAPE CT  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

MEYERS STUART A & BRENDA S 
1614 S LAKESHORE DR  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

CGC GROUP INC 
1690 LAKE FOREST DR  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

 

CRAWFORD STEVE 
1709 GASLIGHT CT  

SEABROOK, TX 77586 
 

 

ARISTA KAUFMAN LLC 
1717 MAIN STREET SUITE 2950 

DALLAS, TX 75201 
 

BLACK SHIRLEY M 
193 PORT SAINT CLAIRE  

ARANSAS PASS, TX 78336 
 

 

RESIDENT 
201 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
202  INTERURBAN ST  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

RESIDENT 
202 N WEST ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

CANO OSCAR & NANCY 
203 N. ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
204 N WEST ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

ESTATE OF DOSVILLE PEOPLES 
208 W HEATH ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

HAYMAC VENTURES LLC 
218 CULLINS ROAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75032 
 

 

BRISCO OIL INC 
2323 STEVENS RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75032 
 

ROCKWALL RUSTIC RANCH LLC 
240 WILLOWCREST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75032 
 

 

SEYMORE INVESTMENTS LLC 
242 C NATIONAL DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75032 
 

 

SMITH IFTACH 
2917 CHERRY SPRING CT  

PLANO, TX 75025 
 

4747



RESIDENT 
301  HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

BEDFORD TERRI W 
301 N ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
301 N GOLIAD ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
301 N SAN JACINTO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
301 W KAUFMAN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

FERRIS BETH 
301 WILDWOOD LN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

JOHNSON AMANDA DAWN 
302 ELM DRIVE  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

WARREN PEGGY E 
302 HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

JOY LUTHERAN CHURCH 
302 N GOLIAD ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

JOY LUTHERAN CHURCH 
302 N GOLIAD ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

CRANE KATHERINE LYNN 
302 W KAUFMAN ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

SMITH WENDY 
303 DERICK DR  
FATE, TX 75189 

 

WILLIAMS RONALD DAVID AND PATRICIA 
303 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

WHITE SANDRA JEAN 
303 HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
303 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

ANGLE GLENDA ANNE 
303 WILDWOOD LN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
304  HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

GLASS KATHLEEN J 
304 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

ODEN STORMIE E AND TAYLOR C 
304 WEST KAUFMAN STREET  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

FOUSE DORIS BURNS 
305 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

WHITE RUNELLE 
305 HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

KING BOBBY R ETUX 
305 WILDWOOD LN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

BELL MARY NELL 
306 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

STANLEY PAUL & SHERI 
306 HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
307  WILDWOOD LN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

KLEPPER LINDA C (POLLARD) 
307 HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

WATCHMEN REAL ESTATE LLC 
3077 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

SCHWEIKERT FERN ELLEN 
308 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

WEBB TEDDY DOUGLAS & AURORA 
308 HIGHLAND DRIVE  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

 

BRADEN DAVID WAYNE 
308 WILDWOOD LANE  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

4848



RESIDENT 
309  WILDWOOD LN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

GRACE CLINE LIFE ESTATE 
MARK CLINE 

309 HIGHLAND DR  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

 

RESIDENT 
310  HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

GATES CHARLES H & BRENDA F 
310 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

PEOPLES JOHN P 
311 HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
312  ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

UNION BANK & TRUST CO 
SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE EMILY SUE WHITEHEAD 

REV TRUST 
312 CENTRAL AVE SE, STE 508  

MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55414 
 

 

SOUTHERN ROOTS LLC 
312 DARTBROOK  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

GARRETT GERRY B 
312 HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
314  HIGHLAND DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

KINSEY BRIAN & TERESA 
316 ELM DRIVE  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

SIDES DEBORAH HALE 
317 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

FURGUSON RANDY AND ANGELA 
317 ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

TALLEY JANICE 
318 ELM DRIVE  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
319  ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
320  ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
321  ELM DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

EVANS SHARON 
322 ELM DRIVE  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

HEALDAN GROUP INC 
3460 MARRON RD SUITE 103-144 

OCEANSIDE, CA 92056 
 

 

RESIDENT 
401 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

PARKS PAIGE E 
402 W KAUFMAN ST STE 100 

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

MORENO ANTONIO AND SUZANNE T 
402 WILDWOOD LANE  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

 

RESIDENT 
404 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

KOVAR RACHAEL A 
404 WEST KAUFMAN STREET  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
405 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
405 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

JONES GERWYN AND JANE 
406 N ALAMO ROAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
406 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

PICKETT GINA 
406 W KAUFMAN ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

DAVENPORT RENTAL PROPERTIES LLC 
407 CASTLE PINES DRIVE  

HEATH, TX 75032 
 

4949



TREVINO BERTHA & LOUIS 
4917 SAINT JAMES CT  
MESQUITE, TX 75150 

 

 

RESIDENT 
501 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
501 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
502 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
502 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

SMITH MARY SUE 
502 W RUSK ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

STRINGFELLOW HOLDINGS, LLC 
5023 PARKVIEW PLACE  

ADDISON, TX 75001 
 

 

STRINGFELLOW HOLDINGS, LLC 
5023 PARKVIEW PLACE  

ADDISON, TX 75001 
 

 

STRINGFELLOW HOLDINGS, LLC 
5023 PARKVIEW PLACE  

ADDISON, TX 75001 
 

RESIDENT 
503 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
503 N GOLIAD ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

BYRUM RICKY CONN AND JO ANN 
504 N ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
504 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

TUCKER PAMELA 
505 N ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
505 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

SOUTHERN ROOTS LLC 
505 N GOLIAD STREET  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

 

 

LAYTON ERIC A AND APRIL L 
506 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
506 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

FLEMING HALLIE B 
507 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
507 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
508 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RNDI COMPANIES INC 
519 E INTERSATE 30 # 157  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

SIDDALL RYAN AND 
TAYLOR GILSTRAP 

5469 JEFFERSON DR  
SACHSE, TX 75048 

 

 

RESIDENT 
601 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

CARDENAS CECILIO & CARMEN 
602 N ALAMO ROAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
602 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

HAMILTON JOANN 
603 N ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
603 N GOLIAD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

DOMINGUEZ, JOSE AND JOHANNA 
604 N ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
605 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

5050



ROY LAWRENCE HANCE JR TRUST 
ROY LAWRENCE HANCE JR- TRUSTEE 

6946 SPERRY STREET  
DALLAS, TX 75214 

 

 

CTC TEXAN PROPERTIES LLC 
7005 CHASE OAKS BLVD SUITE 180 

PLANO, TX 75025 
 

 

RESIDENT 
703 N ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

RESIDENT 
703 N ALAMO RD  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RESIDENT 
706 N ALAMO  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

RISE ACADEMY LEARNING CENTER LLC 
7106 LIBERTY GROVE RD  

ROWLETT, TX 75089 
 

CRISWELL BARBARA 
7110 HUNT LANE  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

MBK3 PROPERTY HOLDING CO LLC 
804 TRUMPETER WAY  
ROCKWALL, TX 75032 

 

 

BACKCOUNTRY HOLDINGS LLC AND 
KYLEE KNIGHT 

8078 WHITEWING DRIVE  
FRISCO, TX 75034 

 

WAY FAMILY TRUST 
8441 S FM ROAD 549  
ROCKWALL, TX 75032 

 

 

PRECISION GLOBAL CORPORATION 
9330 LBJ FREEWAY SUITE 900 

DALLAS, TX 75243 
 

 

BUTCHER MELVIN R 
PO BOX 147  

QUINLAN, TX 75474 
 

CONSELMAN EQUITIES LLC 
PO BOX 2284  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

 

MILE HIGH BORROW 1 LLC 
PO BOX 4090  

SCOTTSDALE, AZ 85261 
 

 

LAND HEADQUARTERS COMPANY INC 
C/O FAIR ROAD PROPERTIES INC 

PO BOX 69  
KEY BISCAYNE, FL 33149 

 

GGX6 LLC 
PO BOX 999  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
 

    

     

     

     

     

5151



PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

 

CITY OF ROCKWALL ● PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT ● 385 S. GOLIAD STREET ● ROCKWALL, TEXAS 75087 ● P: (972) 771 -7745 ● E: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

CITY OF ROCKWALL                                         
PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 
EMAIL: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

 

 
Property Owner and/or Resident of the City of Rockwall: 
 
You are hereby notified that the City of Rockwall Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council will consider the following application: 
 
Z2023-021: Zoning Change from SF-10 to SF-7 
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by James Stringfellow and Bethany Rood of Stringfellow Holdings, LLC for the approval of a Zoning Change 
from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District for a 1.2811-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 2, Block A, North Alamo Addition, City of 
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District, situated within the SH-66 Overlay (SH-66 OV) District, addressed as 405 N. Alamo 
Street, and take any action necessary. 

 
For the purpose of considering the effects of such a request, the Planning and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing on Tuesday, May 9, 2023 at 6:00 PM, 
and the City Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, May 15, 2023 at 6:00 PM. These hearings will be held in the City Council Chambers at City Hall, 385 S. 
Goliad Street.  
 

As an interested property owner, you are invited to attend these meetings.  If you prefer to express your thoughts in writing please return the form to: 
 

Angelica Guevara 
Rockwall Planning and Zoning Dept. 

385 S. Goliad Street 
Rockwall, TX 75087 

 
You may also email your comments to the Planning Department at planning@rockwall.com.  If you choose to email the Planning Department please include your 
name and address for identification purposes.   
 
Your comments must be received by Monday, May 15, 2023 at 4:00 PM to ensure they are included in the information provided to the City Council. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Ryan Miller, AICP 
Director of Planning & Zoning 

 
MORE INFORMATION ON THIS CASE CAN BE FOUND AT: https://sites.google.com/site/rockwallplanning/development/development-cases 

 
PLEASE RETURN THE BELOW FORM 

 
Case No. Z2023-021: Zoning Change from SF-10 to SF-7  
 
Please place a check mark on the appropriate line below:  
 

 I am in favor of the request for the reasons listed below.         
 

 I am opposed to the request for the reasons listed below.  
 

 

 

 

 

Name:  

Address:  

 

Tex. Loc. Gov. Code, Sec. 211.006 (d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this subsection, the proposed change must receive, in 
order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed by the owners of at least 20 
percent of either: (1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or (2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed 
change and extending 200 feet from that area. 
 

PLEASE SEE LOCATION MAP OF SUBJECT PROPERTY ON THE BACK OF THIS NOTICE 

5252

mailto:planning@rockwall.com


CITY OF ROCKWALL 
PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 
EMAIL PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

Property Owner and/or Resident of the City of Rockwall : 

You are hereby notified that the City of Rockwall Planning and Zo ing Commission and City Council will consider the following application: 

22023-021 : Zoning Change from SF-10 to SF-7 
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by Jame Stringfellow and Bethany Rood of Stringfellow Holdings, LLC for the approval of a Zoning Change 
from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF- ; District for a 1.2811-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 2, Block A, North Alamo Addition, City of 
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single-Family 10 (SF- 0) District, situated within the SH-66 Overlay (SH-66 OV) District, addressed as 405 N. Alamo 
Street, and take any action necessary. 

For the purpose of considering the effects of such a request, the Planning and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing on Tuesdav, May 9, 2023 al 6:00 PM, 
and the City Council will hold a public hearing on Mondav, May 15, 2023 at 6:00 PM These hearings will be held in the City Council Chambers at City Hall, 385 S. 
Goliad Street I 
As an interested property owner, you are invited to attend these l eetings. If you prefer to express your thoughts in writing please return the form to: 

Angelica Guevara 
- -- - ReGixwall P-lai:ming aREI 60ning-Qept, 

385 S. Goliad Street 
Rockwall , TX 75087 

You may also email your comments to the Planning Departmen at planning@rockwall.com. If you choose to email the Planning Department please include your 
name and address for identification purposes. 

Your comments must be received by Monda Ma 15 2023 at 4:00 PM to ensure they are included in the information provided to the City Council. 

Sincerely, 

Ryan Miller, AICP 
Director of Planning & Zoning 

~[!I r ,...... ',I:.-:'•-·,..;--;;, 
USE THIS QR CODE ~~i:IE 

TO GO DIRECTLY 
TO THE WEBSITE 

MORE INFORMATION ON THIS CASE CAN BE FOUJND AT: https:llsites.google.comlsite/rockwallplanning/developmenUdevelopment-cases 

PLEASE RETURN THE BELOW FORM - • - • - • I . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . - . 
Case No. 22023-021: Zoning Change from SF-10 to SF-7 

Please place a check mark on the appropriate line below: 

~ am in favor of the request for the reasons listed below. 

D I am opposed to the request for the reasons listed below. 

Name: ·(L~Q\ \2£D+-ufi!) ~i~ G 
Address co r >'\I i ~ < 06( 
Tex. Loe. Gov. Code, Sec. 211 006 (d) If a proposed change~ or boundary is protested in accordance with this subsection, the proposed change must receive, in 
order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths of a\1 members of the governing body. The protest must be written and signed by the owners of at least 20 
percent of either: (1) the area of the lots or land covered by the prodosed change; or (2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed 
change and extending 200 feet from that area. I 

PLEASE SEE LOCATION AP OF SUBJECT PROPERTY ON THE BACK OF THIS NOTICE 

CITY OF ROCKWALL• PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT• 38 S. GOLIAD STREET• ROCKWALL, TEXAS 75087 • P: (972) 771 -7745 • E PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

5353



From: Miller, Ryan
To: Guevara, Angelica
Subject: FW: In Favor of case Z2023-021 Zoning
Date: Tuesday, May 2, 2023 4:39:28 PM

RYAN C. MILLER, AICP
DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & ZONING • PLANNING & ZONING DIVISION • CITY OF ROCKWALL
972.772.6441 OFFICE
RMILLER@ROCKWALL.COM
385 S. GOLIAD STREET • ROCKWALL, TX 75087
HELPFUL LINKS | CITY OF ROCKWALL WEBSITE | PLANNING & ZONING DIVISION WEBSITE |
MUNICIPAL CODE WEBSITE
GIS DIVISION WEBSITE | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE

NOTES:
1) APPOINTED AND ELECTED OFFICIALS: BY REPLYING ALL TO THIS EMAIL YOU MAY BE IN
VIOLATION OF THE TEXAS OPEN MEETINGS ACT.  PLEASE REPLY ONLY TO THE SENDER.
2) PLEASE NOTE THAT ANY CORRESPONDENCE SENT TO CITY STAFF MAY BECOME PUBLIC
RECORD.

-----Original Message-----
From: Hallie B. < >
Sent: Tuesday, May 2, 2023 2:29 PM
To: Miller, Ryan <RMiller@rockwall.com>
Subject: In Favor of case Z2023-021 Zoning

Hi there!

Long time!

In favor of the zoning change above!

Hallie Davenport

  CAUTION:   This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless
you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

5454



5555



5656



5757



5858



Z2023-021: Zoning Change (SF-10 to SF-7) Page | 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-XX 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE NO. 20-02] OF THE CITY 
OF ROCKWALL, AS HERETOFORE AMENDED, SO AS TO 
APPROVE A CHANGE IN ZONING FROM A SINGLE-FAMILY 
10 (SF-10) DISTRICT TO A SINGLE-FAMILY 7 (SF-7) DISTRICT 
FOR A 1.2811-ACRE PARCEL OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS LOT 
2, BLOCK A, NORTH ALAMO ADDITION, CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS, AND BEING 
MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED AND DEPICTED IN 
EXHIBIT ‘A’ OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL 
CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO 
EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request from James Stringfellow and Brittany Rood of 
Stringfellow Holdings, LLC for the approval of a Zoning Change from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) 
District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District for a 1.2811-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 2, 
Block A, North Alamo Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single-Family 
10 (SF-10) District, and more fully described and depicted in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance, which 
hereinafter shall be referred to as the Subject Property and incorporated by reference herein; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the governing body 
of the City of Rockwall in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances of 
the City of Rockwall have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, and have held 
public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally and to all 
persons interested in and situated in the affected area, and in the vicinity thereof, and the 
governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion, has concluded that the Unified 
Development Code (UDC) [Ordinance No. 20-02] should be amended as follows: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. That the Unified Development Code (UDC) [Ordinance No. 20-02] of the City of 
Rockwall, Texas, as heretofore amended, be and the same are hereby amended by amending 
the zoning map of the City of Rockwall so as to change the zoning of the Subject Property from 
Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District; 

SECTION 2. That the Subject Property shall be used only in the manner and for the purposes 
provided for a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District as stipulated in Section 01.01, Use of Land and 
Buildings, of Article 04, Permissible Uses; Section 05.03, General Residential District 
Standards; and Section 03.09, Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District, of the Unified Development Code 
(UDC) [Ordinance No. 20-02] of the City of Rockwall as heretofore amended, as amended 
herein by granting of this zoning change, and as maybe amended in the future; 

SECTION 3.  That the official zoning map of the City be corrected to reflect the changes in the 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

5959



Z2023-021: Zoning Change (SF-10 to SF-7) Page | 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; 

zoning described herein; 
 
SECTION 4. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this ordinance 
shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a penalty of 
fine not to exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for each offence and each and 
every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense; 

 
SECTION 5. If any section, paragraph, or provision of this ordinance or the application of that 
section, paragraph, or provision to any person, firm, corporation or situation is for any reason 
judged invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section, paragraph, or provision of this 
ordinance or the application of any other section, paragraph or provision to any other person, firm, 
corporation or situation, nor shall adjudication affect any other section, paragraph, or provision of 
the Unified Development Code (UDC) of the City of Rockwall, Texas, and the City Council 
declares that it would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without 
the invalid parts and to this end the provisions for this ordinance are declared to be severable; 
and 

 
SECTION 6. That all ordinances of the City of Rockwall in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance be and the same are hereby repealed, and all other ordinances of the City of Rockwall 
not in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect; 

 
SECTION 7.  That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 
THIS THE 5th DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 

 
 

Trace Johanessen, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
 
Kristy Teague, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 
1st Reading: May 15, 2023 

 

2nd Reading: June 5, 2023 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

6060



Exhibit ‘A’ 
Location Map  

 

Z2023-021: Zoning Change (SF-10 to SF-7) Page | 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; 

Legal Description: Lot 2, Block A, North Alamo Addition   
 

 
 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

6161



Exhibit ‘B’ 
Zoning Exhibit 

 

Z2023-021: Zoning Change (SF-10 to SF-7) Page | 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; 

  

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

6262



MEMORANDUM
TO: Mary Smith, City Manager

CC: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning

DATE: May 15, 2023

SUBJECT: Z2023-022; SUP FOR A COMMERCIAL FREESTANDING ANTENNA

Attachments
Case Memo
Development Application
Location Map
HOA Notification Map
Neighborhood Notification Email
Property Owner Notification Map
Property Owner Notification List
Public Notice
Property Owner Notifications
Applicant's Letter
Survey
Concept Plan
Conceptual Building Elevations
Draft Ordinance

Summary/Background Information
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by Dub Douphrate of Douphrate and
Associates on behalf of Dewayne Cain for the approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use
Permit (SUP) for a Freestanding Commercial Antenna on a 0.1234-acre tract of land identified
as a portion of Tract 14 of the D. Harr Survey, Abstract No. 102, City of Rockwall, Rockwall
County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) for Single-Family 1 (SF-1)
and General Retail (GR) District land uses, situated within the East SH-66 Overlay (E. SH-66
OV) District, generally located southside of SH-66 east of the intersection of SH-66 and Davis
Drive, and take any action necessary (1st Reading).

Action Needed
The City Council is being asked to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the
proposed Specific Use Permit (SUP).

6363



 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 1 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 
CITY COUNCIL CASE MEMO 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 

385 S. GOLIAD STREET • ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 • EMAIL: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

 

 

TO: Mayor and City Council 
 

DATE: May 15, 2023 
 

APPLICANT: Dub Douphrate; Douphrate & Associates, Inc. 
 

CASE NUMBER: Z2023-022; SUP for a Commercial Freestanding Antenna 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by Dub Douphrate of Douphrate and Associates on behalf of Dewayne 
Cain for the approval of a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Freestanding Commercial Antenna on a 0.1234-acre tract of land 
identified as a portion of Tract 14 of the D. Harr Survey, Abstract No. 102, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned 
Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) for Single-Family 1 (SF-1) and General Retail (GR) District land uses, situated 
within the East SH-66 Overlay (E. SH-66 OV) District, generally located southside of SH-66 east of the intersection of SH-66 
and Davis Drive, and take any action necessary.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The subject property was annexed on March 16, 1998 by Ordinance No. 98-10 [Case No. A1998-001]. At the time of annexation 
the subject property was zoned Agricultural (AG) District. On March 6, 2023, the City Council approved a zoning change (Case 
No. Z2022-057; Ordinance No. 23-07) from Agricultural (AG) District to Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) [Ordinance 
No. 23-07] for Single-Family 1 (SF-1) and General Retail (GR) District land uses. This Planned Development District also allow 
the location of one (1) Commercial Freestanding Antenna by Specific Use Permit (SUP).  The subject property has remained 
vacant since the time of annexation. 
 
PURPOSE 
 
On April 14, 2023, the applicant -- Dub Douphrate of Douphrate & Associates, Inc. -- submitted an application requesting Specific 
Use Permit (SUP) to allow the construction of a Commercial Freestanding Antenna on the subject property. 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES AND ACCESS 
 
The subject property is generally located in between N. John King Boulevard and N. Stodghill Road, south of SH-66. The land 
uses adjacent to the subject property are as follows: 
 
North: Directly north of the subject property is SH-66, which is identified as a TXDOT4D (i.e. Texas Department of 

Transportation, four [4] lane, divided roadway) on the Master Thoroughfare Plan contained in the OURHometown 
Vision 2040 Comprehensive Plan. Beyond this is a 55.08-acre tract of land zoned Agricultural (AG) District. Following 
this is a 14.219-acre tract of land zoned Agricultural (AG) District and Planned Development District 93 (PD-93) for 
Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District land uses.  

 
South: Directly south of the subject property is the remainder of Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) followed by  

two (2) vacant tracts of land [i.e. Tracts 17 & 17-1 of the D. H. Survey Abstract No. 102] zoned Agricultural District. 
Beyond this is a 64.514-acre tract of land developed with the City of Rockwall’s Animal Shelter and Gun Range, 
which is zoned Agricultural (AG) District. 

 
East: Directly east of the subject property is the remainder of Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) followed by two 

(2) vacant tracts of land [i.e. Tracts 9 & 9-01 of the E. M. E. Survey Abstract No. 77] zoned Agricultural (AG) District. 
Beyond this are six (6) tracts of land, four (4) of which are developed with single-family homes [i.e. 2755 E. SH-66 

6464



 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 2 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

and 1110 and 1226 N. Stodghill Road], one (1) of which is vacant [i.e. Tract 29-2 of the E. M. E. Survey Abstract 77], 
and is the last tract being developed with an Animal Clinic [i.e. 2897 E. SH-66]. All of these properties are zoned 
Agricultural (AG) District. 

 
West: Directly west of the subject property are several properties developed with single-family homes that are zoned 

Agricultural (AG) District and Single-Family 1 (SF-1) District. Beyond this is a 47.89-acre parcel of land developed 
with the Ralph M. Hall Airport, which is zoned Agricultural (AG) District. 

 
MAP 1: LOCATION MAP 
YELLOW: SUBJECT PROPERTY 
 

 
 
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE REQUEST 
 
Staff should note, the applicant is making this request following the approval (i.e. City Council approval March 6, 2023) of the 
zoning change (Case No. Z2022-057) on the subject property from Agricultural (AG) District to Planned Development District 
100 (PD-100). Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) entitled a portion of the subject property for limited General Retail 
(GR) District land uses, with the Commercial Freestanding Antenna land use being allowed by Specific Use Permit (SUP). The 
applicant has submitted a survey, site plan, and building elevations requesting the approval of a Specific Use Permit (SUP) to 
allow the construction of a Commercial Freestanding Antenna on the subject property.  
 
The applicant has submitted a site plan designating a portion of the northwest corner of the subject property as a AT&T lease 
area for the purpose of constructing a Commercial Freestanding Antenna. The Commercial Freestanding Antenna is located 
within an eight (8) foot wrought iron fence with a row of Red Tip Photinias being proposed to be planted around the enclosure. 
The applicant is also proposing a concrete pad that will house the ground mounted equipment for the antenna. Additionally, the 
site plan shows the enclosure will be located 20-feet from the future SH-66 Right-of-Way (ROW), to allow for the required 

6565



 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 3 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

landscape buffer and utility easement. The building elevations submitted by the applicant indicate that the total height of the 
Commercial Freestanding Antenna is 115-feet. This height violates the Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) ordinance, 
which requires the antenna to be no taller than 110-feet in total height. To address this, staff included a condition of approval 
that states the Commercial Freestanding Antenna shall not exceed 110-feet in total height. 
 
CONFORMANCE TO THE CITY’S CODES 
 
According to conditional land use standards contained in Subsection 02.03(K), Utilities, Communications, and Transportation 
Land Uses, of Article 04, Permissible Uses, of the Unified Development Code (UDC), a Commercial Freestanding Antenna shall 
be located within a wrought iron fence surrounded by a screening hedge. In this case, the applicant meets this requirement with 
the use of an eight (8) foot wrought iron fence surrounded with Red Tip Photinias. In addition, one (1) parking space must be 
provided. Currently the applicant is showing the parking space within the landscape buffer, which is not permitted per Subsection 
05.01, Landscape Buffers, of Article 08, Landscape and Fence Standards, of the Unified Development Code (UDC). Also, within 
the landscape buffer, the applicant must provide three (3) canopy and four (4) accent trees per 100-feet of frontage. In this case, 
the applicant has not provided any landscaping within the buffer. Lastly, according to Subsection 01.06, Residential Adjacency 
Standards, of Article 05, District Development Standards, of the Unified Development Code (UDC), three (3) tiered landscaping 
is required along the west property line to screen the proposed non-residential use from the residential homes. In this case, the 
applicant has not provided the necessary screening. As mentioned in the characteristics of the request section of this memo the 
applicant exceeds the maximum permissible height requirements per PD-100. To address the current plans non-conformance 
to the Unified Development Code (UDC), staff has included two (2) conditions of approval that require the applicant to [1] meet 
all of the landscape buffer and residential adjacency standards, and [2] the height maximum. 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
 
Typically, Commercial Freestanding Antennas and other related facilities are discouraged from locating directly adjacent to or 
within the City’s residential areas. These uses are generally discouraged due to their intensity and high visible nature of the land 
use. In reviewing the Land Use Schedule contained in Article 04, of the Unified Development Code (UDC), Commercial 
Freestanding Antennas are only permitted by-right in the Light Industrial (LI) and Heavy Industrial (HI) Districts, with the 
remaining districts being permitted by Specific Use Permit (SUP) (i.e. Commercial (C), Heavy Commercial (HC), General Retail 
(GR), and Agricultural (AG) Districts). That being said, the subject property in question is surrounded by rural estate lots and is 
directly adjacent to large power transport lines. Given this, the visual intrusion will be minimized; however, this is a discretionary 
decision for the City Council pending a recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
Staff should note, the applicant’s site plan and building elevations are not in conformance with the Unified Development Code 
(UDC) or the Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) ordinance; however, if the applicant’s request is approved with the 
conditions of approval listed below, the approval will require the applicant to address all of staff’s comments before a building 
permit is accepted.  
 
NOTIFICATIONS 
 
On April 18, 2023, staff mailed 14 notices to property owners and occupants within 500-feet of the subject property. Staff also 
notified the Rolling Meadows Estates Homeowner’s Association (HOA), which is the only HOA/Neighborhood Organization 
within 1,500-feet of the subject property participating in the Neighborhood Notification Program. Additionally, staff posted a sign 
on the subject property, and advertised the public hearings in the Rockwall Herald Banner as required by the Unified 
Development Code (UDC).  At the time this report was drafted, staff had received the following: 
 
(1) Six (6) property owner notifications from four (4) property owners who are in favor of the applicant’s request. Staff should 

note that two (2) of the notices are from the property owner of the subject property for this zoning case. 
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
If the City Council chooses to approve the applicant’s request for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) to construct a Commercial 
Freestanding Antenna, then staff would propose the following conditions of approval:33 
 
(1) Development of the Subject Property shall generally conform to the Site Plan as depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ of the draft ordinance. 

6666



 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT PAGE 4 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

 
(2) Per the requirements contained in Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) (i.e. Ordinance No. 23-07) the Commercial 

Freestanding Antenna shall not exceed 110-feet in total height. 
 

(3) Before the acceptance of a building permit, staff must receive a site plan that meets the landscape buffer planting 
requirements, the residential adjacency planting requirements, and move the one (1) parking space out of the required 
landscape buffer. 

 
(4) Any construction resulting from the approval of this Specific Use Permit (SUP) shall conform to the requirements set forth 

by the Unified Development Code (UDC), the International Building Code (IBC), the Rockwall Municipal Code of 
Ordinances, city adopted engineering and fire codes and with all other applicable regulatory requirements administered 
and/or enforced by the state and federal government. 

 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 
On May 9, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission approved a motion to recommend approval of the SUP by a vote of 7-
0. 

6767



6868



6969



7070



From: Guevara, Angelica
Cc: Miller, Ryan; Ross, Bethany; Lee, Henry
Bcc:

Subject: Neighborhood Notification Program [Z2023-022]
Date: Tuesday, April 18, 2023 10:14:12 AM
Attachments: Public Notice (04.17.2023).pdf

HOA Map (04.14.2023).pdf

HOA/Neighborhood Association Representative:

Per your participation in the Neighborhood Notification Program, you are receiving this notice to inform your

organization that a zoning case has been filed with the City of Rockwall that is located within 1,500-feet of the

boundaries of your neighborhood.  As the contact listed for your organization, you are encouraged to share this

information with the residents of your subdivision.  Please find the attached map detailing the property

requesting to be rezoned in relation to your subdivision boundaries.  Additionally, below is the summary of the

zoning case that will be published in the Rockwall Herald Banner on April 21, 2023.  The Planning and Zoning

Commission will hold a public hearing on Tuesday, May 9, 2023 at 6:00 PM, and the City Council will hold a

public hearing on Monday, May 15, 2023 at 6:00 PM.  Both hearings will take place at 6:00 PM at City Hall, 385

S. Goliad, Rockwall, TX 75087.

All interested parties are encouraged to submit public comments via email to Planning@rockwall.com  at least

30 minutes in advance of the meeting.  Please include your name, address, and the case number your

comments are referring to.  These comments will be read into the record during each of the public

hearings. Additional information on all current development cases can be found on the City’s website:

https://sites.google.com/site/rockwallplanning/development/development-cases.

Z2023-022: SUP for a Freestanding Commercial Antenna

Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by Dub Douphrate of Douphrate and Associates on

behalf of Dewayne Cain for the approval of a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Freestanding Commercial

Antenna on a 0.1234-acre tract of land identified as a portion of Tract 14 of the D. Harr Survey, Abstract No.

102, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) for Single-

Family 1 (SF-1) and General Retail (GR) District land uses, situated within the East SH-66 Overlay (E. SH-66

OV) District, generally located southside of SH-66 east of the intersection of SH-66 and Davis Drive, and take

any action necessary.

Thank you,

Angelica Guevara
Planning Technician
City of Rockwall Planning & Zoning
385 S. Goliad Street
Rockwall, TX 75087
Office: 972-771-7745
Direct: 972-772-6438

7171



7272



CONFIDENTIAL 
152 HILL LN  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

COLLIER JUDY KAY AND 
THERESA ROBBINS 
1780 WILLIAMS ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

RATHER JACOB AND 
NOAH MCILRATH 

1790 WILLIAMS ST  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

RESIDENT 
1800  WILLIAMS ST  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

RESIDENT 
2294 E STATE HIGHWAY 66 

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

CAIN FAMILY PARTNERSHIP LTD 
305 STONEBRIDGE DR  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

RYAN BILL K 
330 VZ CR 2207  

CANTON, TX 75103 

MA MICHAEL D AND CAROLINE J G MOORE 
725 DAVIS DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

RINKEVICH FAMILY LIVING TRUST 
JOSEPH W RINKEVICH- TRUSTEE 

740 DAVIS DR  
ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

RESIDENT 
745  DAVIS DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

COOK SHERRY LYNN 
760 DAVIS DRIVE  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

WIDBOOM ROBBY AND KYLIE 
770 DAVIS DR  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

CAIN REVOCABLE FAMILY TRUST AND 
CREDIT SHELTER TRUST AND SURVIVORS TRUST 
DEWAYNE CAIN TRUSTEE 305 STONEBRIDGE DR 

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

RAINES SHERYL 
PO BOX 412  

ROCKWALL, TX 75087 

7373



PUBLIC NOTICE 

CITY OF ROCKWALL ● PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT ● 385 S. GOLIAD STREET ● ROCKWALL, TEXAS 75087 ● P: (972) 771 -7745 ● E: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

CITY OF ROCKWALL     
PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 
EMAIL: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

Property Owner and/or Resident of the City of Rockwall: 

You are hereby notified that the City of Rockwall Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council will consider the following application: 

Z2023-022: SUP for A Freestanding Commercial Antenna  
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by Dub Douphrate of Douphrate and Associates on behalf of Dewayne Cain for the approval of a Specific 
Use Permit (SUP) for a Freestanding Commercial Antenna on a 0.1234-acre tract of land identified as a portion of Tract 14 of the D. Harr Survey, Abstract No. 102, 
City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) for Single-Family 1 (SF-1) and General Retail (GR) District land uses, 
situated within the East SH-66 Overlay (E. SH-66 OV) District, generally located southside of SH-66 east of the intersection of SH-66 and Davis Drive, and take any 
action necessary. 

For the purpose of considering the effects of such a request, the Planning and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing on Tuesday, May 9, 2023 at 6:00 PM, 
and the City Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, May 15, 2023 at 6:00 PM. These hearings will be held in the City Council Chambers at City Hall, 385 S. 
Goliad Street.  

As an interested property owner, you are invited to attend these meetings.  If you prefer to express your thoughts in writing please return the form to: 

Henry Lee 
Rockwall Planning and Zoning Dept. 

385 S. Goliad Street 
Rockwall, TX 75087 

You may also email your comments to the Planning Department at planning@rockwall.com.  If you choose to email the Planning Department please include your 
name and address for identification purposes.   

Your comments must be received by Monday, May 15, 2023 at 4:00 PM to ensure they are included in the information provided to the City Council. 

Sincerely, 

Ryan Miller, AICP 
Director of Planning & Zoning 

MORE INFORMATION ON THIS CASE CAN BE FOUND AT: https://sites.google.com/site/rockwallplanning/development/development-cases 

PLEASE RETURN THE BELOW FORM 

Case No. Z2023-022: SUP for A Freestanding Commercial Antenna 

Please place a check mark on the appropriate line below:  

 I am in favor of the request for the reasons listed below. 

 I am opposed to the request for the reasons listed below. 

Name: 

Address: 

Tex. Loc. Gov. Code, Sec. 211.006 (d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this subsection, the proposed change must receive, in 
order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed by the owners of at least 20 
percent of either: (1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or (2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed 
change and extending 200 feet from that area. 

PLEASE SEE LOCATION MAP OF SUBJECT PROPERTY ON THE BACK OF THIS NOTICE 

7474

mailto:planning@rockwall.com


7575



7676



7777



1

Lee, Henry

From: Sellers Donya < >
Sent: Tuesday, May 2, 2023 2:15 PM
To: Lee, Henry
Subject: Proposed Cell Tower

I am in favor of the proposed cell tower on State Hwy. 66 in Rockwall for Dewayne Cain 

Donya Sellers‐Horton 
700 Davis Drive 
Rockwall TX 75087 
972‐689‐3356 

  CAUTION:   This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

7878



1

Lee, Henry

From: John or Lori Cummings 
Sent: Monday, April 24, 2023 7:34 PM
To: Lee, Henry
Subject: Support for Case# Z2023-022

Hello Henry, 

We own 1770 State Highway 66 (aka Williams St), which is within the 
500' buffer of Case# Z2023-022, SUP for a freestanding commercial 
antenna.  

We are in favor of the proposed cell tower. 

Thank you, 

John & Lori Cummings 

  CAUTION:   This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

7979



1

Lee, Henry

From: Lesli Johnson 
Sent: Monday, May 8, 2023 8:04 AM
To: Lee, Henry
Subject: Cell Tower on Hwy 66

Hello Mr. Lee, 

Due to the poor cell service in the Rest Haven area, we favor the proposed cell tower on Hwy 66 in Rockwall. 

Thank you! 

Lesli Y. Johnson 
Managing Partner 
Rest Haven Funeral Home & Memorial Park 
The Flower Box 
Pet Memories 
Northeast Texas Crematory 
Office: (972) 771‐8641 
Fax:  (972) 771‐1912 
ljohnson@resthavenfuneral.com 

  CAUTION:   This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

8080



8181



8282



8383



8484



8585



IT IS A VIOLATION OF LAW FOR ANY PERSON,
UNLESS THEY ARE ACTING UNDER THE DIRECTION

OF A LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER,
TO ALTER THIS DOCUMENT.

LE-2
REVISION:SHEET NUMBER:

1801 VALLEY VIEW LANE
FARMER'S BRANCH, TX 75234

ISSUED FOR:
DRWNREV DESCRIPTION DES./QADATE

LEASE EXHIBITWHS JK

AT&T SITE NUMBER:
DDL00380

AT&T SITE NAME:
DDL00380

FA CODE:
15682026

PACE ID:
MRNTX075135

770 DAVIS DRIVE
ROCKWALL, TX 75087

NEW MONOPOLE TOWER

LEA

04/12/2023LEA

THIS DOCUMENT IS
PRELIMINARY IN

NATURE AND IS NOT
A FINAL, SIGNED AND
SEALED DOCUMENT

BROADUS SERVICES
FIRM REGISTRATION #F-23339

4 COUNTRY PLACE CIRCLE
DALWORTHINGTON GARDENS, TX  76016

SERVICES
4 COUNTRY PLACE CIRCLE

DALWORTHINGTON GARDENS
TEXAS 76016

BROADUSB

8686



Z2023-022: SUP for a Commercial  
Freestanding Antenna Page | 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; SUP # S-XXX 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-XX 

SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-XXX 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 100 (PD-100) [ORDINANCE NO. 23-07] AND THE UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE NO. 20-02] OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, SO AS TO 
GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT (SUP) TO ALLOW A COMMERCIAL 
FREESTANDING ANTENNA ON A 0.1234-ACRE TRACT OF LAND 
IDENTIFIED AS A PORTION OF TRACT 14 OF THE D. HARR SURVEY, 
ABSTRACT NO 102, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, 
TEXAS; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR 
A PENALTY OR FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; 
PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, a request has been made by Dub Douphrate of Douphrate and Associates on behalf 
of Dewayne Cain for the approval of a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Commercial Freestanding 
Antenna on a 0.1234-acre tract of land identified as a portion of Tract 14 of the D. Harr Survey, 
Abstract No. 102, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 
100 (PD-100) for General Retail (GR) District land uses, situated within the East SH-66 Overlay 
(E. SH-66 OV) District, generally located on the southside of SH-66 east of the intersection of SH-
66 and Davis Drive, and being more specifically described in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance, which 
herein after shall be referred to as the Subject Property and incorporated by reference herein; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the governing body 
of the City of Rockwall, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances of 
the City of Rockwall, have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, and have held 
public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally, and to all 
persons interested in and situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof, the governing 
body in the exercise of its legislative discretion has concluded that Planned Development District 
100 (PD-100) [Ordinance No. 23-07] and the Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 20-02] 
of the City of Rockwall should be amended as follows: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. That Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) [Ordinance No. 23-07] and the 
Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 20-02] of the City of Rockwall, as heretofore amended, 
be and the same is hereby amended so as to grant a Specific Use Permit (SUP) allowing for the 
establishment of a Commercial Freestanding Antenna as stipulated by Planned Development 
District 100 (PD-100) [Ordinance No. 23-07] on the Subject Property; and 

SECTION 2.  That the Subject Property shall be used and developed only in the manner and for 
the purposes described in this Specific Use Permit (SUP) ordinance and as specifically set forth 
in Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) [Ordinance No. 23-07], Subsection 01.01, Land 
Use Schedule, of Article 04, Permissible Uses, and Subsection 04.01, General Commercial 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

8787



Z2023-022: SUP for a Commercial  
Freestanding Antenna Page | 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; SUP # S-XXX 

District Standards; Subsection 04.04, General Retail (GR) District; and Subsection 06.02, General 
Overlay District Standards, of Article 05, District Development Standards, of the Unified 
Development Code [Ordinance No. 20-02] of the City of Rockwall -- as heretofore amended and 
may be amended in the future -- and with the following conditions: 

2.1 OPERATIONAL CONDITIONS 

The following conditions pertain to the operation of a Commercial Freestanding Antenna on the 
Subject Property and conformance to these requirements is necessary for continued operations: 

1) The development and operation of a Commercial Freestanding Antenna shall generally
conform to the Concept Plan depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ and Concept Building Elevations depicted
in Exhibit ‘C’ of this ordinance.

2) Any necessary equipment building shall be enclosed by a decorative iron fence surrounded
by a screening hedge which will achieve a height of at least six (6) feet at maturity or a
masonry screening wall at least eight (8) feet in height; and,

3) At least one (1) paved parking space with paved access thereto shall be provided at the
antenna location; said parking space need not be reserved exclusively for use in conjunction
with the antenna installation and may be one (1) of the spaces provided for the principal use
on the property; and,

4) Administrative approval of the antenna installation shall be required prior to the issuance of
any permits for construction; and,

2.2 COMPLIANCE 

Approval of this ordinance in accordance with Subsection 02.02, Specific Use Permits (SUP), of 
Article 11, Development Applications and Review Procedures, of the Unified Development Code 
(UDC) will require the Subject Property to comply with the following: 

1) Upon obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy (CO), should the business owner operating under
the guidelines of this ordinance fail to meet the minimum operational requirements set forth
herein and outlined in the Unified Development Code (UDC), the City may (after proper notice)
initiate proceedings to revoke the Specific Use Permit (SUP) in accordance with Subsection
02.02(F), Revocation, of Article 11, Development Applications and Review Procedures, of the
Unified Development Code (UDC) [Ordinance No. 20-02].

SECTION 3. That the official zoning map of the City be corrected to reflect the changes in zoning 
described herein. 

SECTION 4. That all ordinances of the City of Rockwall in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance be, and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of that conflict. 

SECTION 5. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this ordinance 
shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a penalty of 
fine not to exceed the sum of TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) for each offence and 
each and every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense. 

SECTION 6. If any section or provision of this ordinance or the application of that section or 
provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance is for any reason judged 
invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

8888



Z2023-022: SUP for a Commercial  
Freestanding Antenna Page | 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; SUP # S-XXX 

application of any other section or provision to any other person, firm, corporation, situation or 
circumstance, and the City Council declares that it would have adopted the valid portions and 
applications of the ordinance without the invalid parts and to this end the provisions of this 
ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 7. That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 
THIS THE 5TH DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 

Trace Johannesen, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

Kristy Teague, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

1st Reading:  May 15, 2023 

2nd Reading: June 5, 2023 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

8989



Exhibit ‘A’: 
Survey 

Z2023-022: SUP for a Commercial  
Freestanding Antenna Page | 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; SUP # S-XXX 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

9090



Exhibit ‘B’:  
Concept Plan 

Z2023-022: SUP for a Commercial  
Freestanding Antenna Page | 5 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; SUP # S-XXX 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

9191



Exhibit ‘C’:  
Concept Building Elevations 

Z2023-022: SUP for a Commercial  
Freestanding Antenna Page | 6 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 23-XX; SUP # S-XXX 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

9292



MEMORANDUM
TO: Mary Smith, City Manager

CC: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning

DATE: May 15, 2023

SUBJECT:
Z2023-023; TEXT AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 04, PERMISSIBLE USES,
AND ARTICLE 13, DEFINITIONS, OF THE UDC FOR ALCOHOLIC
BEVERAGE SALES AND ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE STORE

Attachments
Memorandum
Proposed Text Amendment
Draft Ordinance

Summary/Background Information
Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider the approval of an ordinance for a Text
Amendment to Article 04, Permissible Uses, and Article 13, Definitions, of the Unified
Development Code (UDC) for the purpose of creating an Alcoholic Beverage Package
Sales land use, and take any action necessary (1st Reading).

Action Needed
The City Council is being asked to approve, approve with changes, or deny the proposed Text
Amendment.

9393



CITY OF ROCKWALL 
CITY COUNCIL MEMORANDUM 

PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT 

385 S. GOLIAD STREET • ROCKWALL, TX 75087 
PHONE: (972) 771-7745 • EMAIL: PLANNING@ROCKWALL.COM 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

CC: Mary Smith, City Manager 
Joey Boyd, Assistant City Manager 

FROM: Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning 
DATE: May 15, 2023 

SUBJECT: Z2023-023; Text Amendment to Article 04, Permissible Uses, and Article 13, Definitions, of the 
UDC for Alcoholic Beverage Sales and Alcoholic Beverage Store 

In accordance with Subsection 02.01, Authority, of Article 11, Development Applications and Review Procedures, of the Unified 
Development Code (UDC), the Director of Planning and Zoning is bringing forward a text amendment to Article 04, Permissible 
Uses, and Article 13, Definitions, for the purpose of creating an Alcoholic Beverage Sales and an Alcoholic Beverage Store land 
use. Under the proposed text amendment these definitions would be defined as follows: 

(1) Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales. The act of selling beer, wine, and/or liquor or distilled spirits -- as defined by the Texas
Alcoholic Beverage Code -- in accordance with the requirements of this Unified Development Code (UDC) by a person,
establishment, or place of business.

(2) Alcoholic Beverage Store. A standalone retail establishment that engages in the sale of beer, wine, and liquor or distilled
spirits -- as defined by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code -- to the general public for off-premise personal or household
consumption.

In addition, the text amendment sets up the following Conditional Lane Use Standards for the proposed land uses: 

(1) Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales.

(a) The package sales of liquor or distilled spirits -- as defined by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code -- shall only be
permitted in conjunction with an Alcoholic Beverage Store, and shall not be permitted as an accessory use to any other
land use contained within this Unified Development Code (UDC).

(b) The package sales of beer and wine shall be permitted by-right as an accessory land use to a General Retail Store,
Retail Store with Gasoline Sales, Brew Pub, Craft/Micro Brewery and/or Winery, Brewery, and Winery.

(2) Alcoholic Beverage Stores.

(a) An Alcoholic Beverage Store shall include the sale of beer, wine, and liquor or distilled spirits as defined by the Texas
Alcoholic Beverage Code.

(b) An Alcoholic Beverage Store shall be prohibited from locating within 1,000-feet of a lot, parcel, or tract of land with
another Alcoholic Beverage Store situated on it as measured in a straight line between the nearest points of one (1) of
the lots, parcels, or tracts of land to the other lot, parcel, or tract of land.

The purpose of creating these land uses and Conditional Land Use Standards is to ensure that if State law and/or local option 
requirements change, the City of Rockwall has regulations in the zoning code to address the sale of liquor or distilled spirits. 
This approach avoids the lag-time between the implementation of a legislative/local change and time it takes staff to draft and 
process regulations to address the legislative/local change; however, these requirements would be dormant in the City’s code 
until they are applicable by a change in State law and/or local option requirements. 

9494



A redlined copy of the proposed changes along with a draft ordinance has been provided in the attached packet. In accordance 
with Subsection 02.04(B) of Article 11, Development Applications and Review Procedures, of the Unified Development Code 
(UDC), the Director of Planning and Zoning brought the proposed text amendment forward to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission for a recommendation to the City Council, and -- at the May 9, 2023 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting -- 
the Planning and Zoning Commission approved a motion to recommend approval of the text amendment by a vote of 7-0. 
Staff has sent out a 15-day notice to the Rockwall Herald Banner in accordance with all applicable state laws and Section 
02.03(A)(3) of Article 11, Development Applications and Review Procedures, of the Unified Development Code (UDC). Should 
the City Council have any questions staff will be available at the meeting on May 15, 2023. 

9595



 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 
 

 

PAGE 4-6  ARTICLE 04 | PERMISSIBLE USES 

(1) Setbacks from Other Uses. The club must be located 
not less than 300-feet from a church, public school, 
or public hospital. For a church or public hospital, the 
300-feet shall be measured along the property lines 
of the street fronts and from front door to front door, 
and in a direct line across intersections. For public 
schools, the measurement of distance shall be in 
direct line from the property line of the public school 
to the property line of the private club and in a direct 
line across intersections.  
 

(2) Exterior Signs. There shall be no exterior signs 
advertising the sale of alcoholic beverages, provided 
this does not prohibit using established trademark 
names (e.g. Steak and Ale).  
 

(3) Alcoholic Sales Revenue. Revenues from the sale of 
alcoholic beverages shall not exceed 40% of the 
gross revenues derived from the sale of food and 
beverages. In the hotels and motels, the gross 
receipts shall include all restaurants and club 
operations in the facility as well as room rental 
charges. The City shall be provided with copies of 
the reports submitted by the establishment to the 
Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts and the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Commission within 30-days of 
the end of each quarter. Combined sales as reflected 
on the reports for the last two (2) reported quarters 
shall be used to determine if the sales of alcohol 
exceed the maximum allowed percentage.  
 

(4) Club Boundaries. The boundaries of a private club 
are hereby defined to be the building in which the 
private club is located, or in the case of a multi-tenant 
building such as a shopping center, only that portion 
of the building in which the private club is located 
which is separately leased or owned, or with 
contiguous internal access should such floor area be 
leased to more than one (1) party. 
 

(5) Certificate of Occupancy. A copy of the permit 
approved by the state shall be submitted to the city 
prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy (CO) 
to ensure that the permit complies with the provisions 
of the zoning.  
 

(6) Allowed uses. No uses meeting the terms and 
definitions of Sexually Oriented Business as defined 
in Article XI, Sexually Oriented Businesses, of 
Chapter 12, Businesses and Sales, of the Municipal 
Code of Ordinances, as it is currently adopted or as 
it may hereafter be amended, shall be located in a 
private club unless such uses are approved as a part 
of the Specific Use Permit (SUP) authorizing the 
Private Club. Any such approved use shall be in 
compliance with all requirements of this permit, all 
applicable requirements of the Unified Development 
Code (UDC), and any other applicable ordinances.  

 

(7) Sexually Oriented Businesses.  
 

(a) Sexually Oriented Businesses shall not be permitted 
within any Overlay District in the City of Rockwall. 

 

(F) Retail and Personal Service Land Uses. 
 

(1) Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales. 
 

(a) The package sales of liquor or distilled spirits -- as defined 
by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code -- shall only be 
permitted in conjunction with an Alcoholic Beverage 
Store, and shall not be permitted as an accessory use to 
any other land use contained within this Unified 
Development Code (UDC). 
 

(b) The package sales of beer and wine shall be permitted 
by-right as an accessory land use to a General Retail 
Store, Retail Store with Gasoline Sales, Brew Pub, 
Craft/Micro Brewery and/or Winery, Brewery, and Winery. 

 

(2) Alcoholic Beverage Store. 
 

(a) An Alcoholic Beverage Store shall include the sale of 
beer, wine, and liquor or distilled spirits as defined by the 
Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code. 
 

(b) An Alcoholic Beverage Store shall be prohibited from 
locating within 1,000-feet of a lot, parcel, or tract of land 
with another Alcoholic Beverage Store situated on it as 
measured in a straight line between the nearest points of 
one (1) of the lots, parcels, or tracts of land to the other 
lot, parcel, or tract of land. 

 

(1)(3) Portable Beverage Service Facility.  
 

(a) The service shall be limited to snow cone stands, 
beverage stands serving non-alcoholic beverages such 
as coffee, juices or sodas.  
 

(b) The maximum time limit of such temporary use shall not 
exceed 150-days annually or a time limit otherwise 
approved by the City Council. At the end of the time 
period, the structure shall be removed from the property.  
 

(c) Any temporary power poles will be removed on the date 
of or immediately following the termination date of the 
permit.  
 

(d) No additional freestanding signage shall be permitted.  
 

(e) The temporary portable structure or trailer shall meet all 
health and electrical codes off the City.  
 

(f) Any such temporary facility shall not reduce the number 
of required parking spaces of any nearby building or use.  
 

(g) Any such temporary facility shall have permanent 
restrooms for employees available within 300-feet of the 
door of the portable beverage facility. Written permission 
from the permanent building owner for restroom use must 
be submitted to the building official; no portable restroom 
facility is allowed.  
 

(h) Any such temporary facility shall be located on an all-
weather (i.e. asphalt or concrete) parking surface with 
adequate space for parking and circulation, unless 
alternatively approved by the City Council.  

 

(2)(4) Temporary Christmas Tree Sales Lot and Similar 
Uses.   

 

9696



 

CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE  
 

 

ARTICLE 04 | PERMISSIBLE USES  PAGE 4-15 

 

(A) Grazing Animals. In the SF-E and SF-1 Districts, grazing animals 
500 pounds or greater, including horses and cattle must have a 
minimum fenced or enclosed area of 40,000 square feet per animal. 
Grazing animals of less than 500 pounds, including sheep and 
goats, must have a minimum fenced or enclosed area of 15,000 
square feet per animal.  
 

(B) Other Animals. An SUP is required for other farm animals, including 
chickens and swine (except for “potbellied pigs” as defined in 
Section 6-1, Definitions, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Municipal 
Code of Ordinances), and for a reduction in the land area required 
for grazing farm animals. The city shall not grant a SUP for any farm 
animal unless it is convinced that the presence of such animals will 
not injure the use and enjoyment of neighboring properties, 
including the impact of dust, flies and odor.  
 

(C) General Conditions. Notwithstanding the conditions above,  
 

(1) Ground accumulations of manure shall be collected and 
properly disposed of so as not to create offensive odors, fly 
breeding, or in any way pose a health hazard or nuisance to 
humans and animals; 
 

(2) Fences or pens, corrals or similar enclosures shall be of 
sufficient height and strength to properly retain the animal; and  
 

(3) In SF-E and SF-1 Districts, no swine or fowl are permitted, 
except for potbellied pigs as defined in Section 6-1, Definitions, 
of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Municipal Code of Ordinances.  
 

(4) In the Agricultural District or on unplatted tracts of land of five 
acres or more, standards for animals are found in Section 6-1, 
Definitions, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. 

 
SUBSECTION 03.02: TEMPORARY ACCOMODATION FOR 
EMPLOYEES, CUSTORMERS AND VISITORS 
 

(A) Temporary accommodations. Temporary accommodation for 
employees, customers and visitors may be provided as an ancillary 
use in commercial zoning districts provided that:  

 

(1) Such accommodation is clearly in support of the business 
operation; 
 

(2) No rental of such facilities to the general transient public 
occurs;  
 

(3) Accommodation is for temporary stays, not to exceed 30 days; 
and  
 

(4) No more than five (5) percent of the building area is utilized for 
this ancillary use.   

 
SUBSECTION 03.03: UTILITY DISTRIBUTION LINES  
 

All utility distribution lines shall be placed underground. Utility distribution 
lines placed above-ground shall require special approval of the City 
Council based upon a recommendation of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. 
 
SUBSECTION 03.04: FLAG POLES  
 

Flag poles are permitted in all districts, but must meet the building height 
and setback requirements for each district. (See Article 05, District 
Development Standards, of the Unified Development Code).   
 
SUBSECTION 03.05: ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES  
 

(A) Restaurants with Alcoholic Beverage Sales.  
 

(1) Restaurants may serve alcoholic beverages for on-premises 
consumption by right if they are located on property that was 
within the city limits as of November 14, 2007, and are located 
in a zoning district allowing such use. For restaurants located 
on property that was annexed after November 14, 2007, a 
private club permit must be obtained for the ability to serve 
alcohol and must be located in an appropriate zoning district 
that allows such use.  

 

(2) Restaurants that sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises 
consumption shall be subject to compliance with the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Code, as it exists or may be amended and 
must be located not less than 300 feet from a church, public 
school, private school (as defined by the Texas Alcoholic 
Beverage Code) or public hospital. For a church or public 
hospital, the 300 feet shall be measured along the property 
lines of the street fronts and from front door to front door, and 
in a direct line across intersections. For public schools or 
private schools, the measurement of distance shall be in direct 
line from the property line of the public school or private school 
to the property line of the restaurant and in a direct line across 
intersections. If the permit or license holder is located on or 
above the fifth story of a multistory building, in a direct line from 
the property line of the public or private school to the property 
line of the place of business, in a direct line across 
intersections, and vertically up the building at the property line 
to the base of the floor on which the permit or license holder is 
located.  

 

The City Council may grant a variance to the distance 
regulations if the City Council determines that enforcement of 
those regulations in a particular instance is not in the best 
interest of the public, constitutes waste of inefficient use of land 
or other resources, creates an undue hardship on an applicant 
for a license or permit, does not serve its intended purpose, is 
not effective or necessary, or for any other reason the City 
Council, after consideration of the health, safety, and welfare 
of the public and the equities of the situation, determines is in 
the best interest of the community.  

 

(3) Restaurants that sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises 
consumption shall be subject to compliance with the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Code, as it exists or may be amended and 
shall not be permitted to have exterior signs advertising the 
sale of alcoholic beverages other than those authorized under 
the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code and chapter 32 of the 
Code of Ordinances, pertaining to signs.  

 

(B) Retail Establishments with Alcoholic Beverage Sales.  
 

(1) Retail establishments or Alcoholic Beverage Stores may sell 
beer and wine for off-premises consumption by right if they are 
located on property that was within the city limits as of 
November 14, 2007, and are located in a zoning district 
allowing such use. Retail establishments or Alcoholic 

9797



CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 

PAGE 4-16 ARTICLE 04 | PERMISSIBLE USES 

Beverage Stores located on property that was annexed after 
November 14, 2007, may not engage in the selling of beer and 
wine for off-premises consumption.  

(2) Retail establishments engaged in the selling of beer and wine
or Alcoholic Beverage Stores engaged in the selling of beer, 
wine, and distilled spirits or liquor to the general public for off-
premises consumption shall be subject to compliance with the 
Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code, as it exists or may be 
amended and must be located not less than 300 300-feet from 
a church, public school, private school (as defined by the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Code) or public hospital. For a church or 
public hospital, the 300 300-feet shall be measured along the 
property lines of the street fronts and from front door to front 
door, and in a direct line across intersections. For public 
schools or private schools, the measurement of distance shall 
be in direct line from the property line of the public school to 
the property line of the retail establishment or Alcoholic 
Beverage Store and in a direct line across intersections. If the 
permit or license holder is located on or above the fifth story of 
a multistory building, the measurement shall be in a direct line 
from the property line of the public or private school to the 
property line of the place of business, in a direct line across 
intersections, and vertically up the building at the property line 
to the base of the floor on which the permit or license holder is 
located.  

The City Council may grant a variance to the distance 
regulations if the City Council determines that enforcement of 
those regulations in a particular instance is not in the best 
interest of the public, constitutes waste of inefficient use of land 
or other resources, creates an undue hardship on an applicant 
for a license or permit, does not serve its intended purpose, is 
not effective or necessary, or for any other reason the City 
Council, after consideration of the health, safety, and welfare 
of the public and the equities of the situation, determines is in 
the best interest of the community.  

(3) Retail establishments engaged in the selling of beer and wine
or Alcoholic Beverage Stores engaged in the selling of beer,
wine, and distilled spirits or liquor for off-premise consumption
shall be subject to compliance with the Texas Alcoholic
Beverage Code, as it exists or may be amended and shall not
be permitted to have exterior signs advertising the sale of
alcoholic beverages other than those authorized under the
Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code and Chapter 32 of the Code
of Ordinances, pertaining to signs.

(C) Drive-Through Sales of Pre-Packaged Beverages, Convenience
Stores, Retail Sales with Gasoline.

(1) An establishment may not offer drive-in, drive-up, drive
through, or walk-up sales or service of pre-packaged, sealed,
unopened beverages.

(2) A convenience store may not contain less than 1,000 square
feet of retail space.

(3) For purposes of this section, the terms “drive-in,” “drive-up,”
“drive-through,” and “walk-up” do not prohibit the service of
food or beverages to customers:

(a) Who must physically leave their vehicles and enter a
building in order to make a purchase; or

(b) As part of a drive-through restaurant in connection with
the sale or service of food to the customer.

SUBSECTION 03.06: ANTENNAS 

(A) Construction and Maintenance Requirements. All antenna masts,
towers and antenna supports used for television and radio reception 
or transmission shall be constructed and maintained in accordance
with the current National Electrical Code and the Building Code of
the City.

(B) Permit Required. Any person desiring to erect or have erected an
antenna more than 25-feet in height above ground level, or an
antenna mast 25-feet or less in height but not erected as required
by this section, shall make written application to the building
inspection department for a permit to erect same. Sufficient plans
and specifications, as determined by the Chief Building Official,
must accompany each application. It shall be unlawful and a
violation of this division to erect, or cause to be erected, or to
maintain, or cause to maintain, such antenna mast without first
having obtained a permit. It shall be the duty of the permittee to
request a final inspection upon completion of the antenna system.
Domestic TV antennas are exempt from this section.

(C) Restrictions and Limitations. All antenna systems constructed and
maintained under the provisions of this section shall be subject to
the following restrictions and limitations:

(1) No such antenna system shall be more than 99-feet in height.

(2) The location on the lot of such antenna system shall comply
with the requirements of this Unified Development Code
insofar as the front building line and side yard building line and
requirements are concerned. No portion of an antenna system
shall extend beyond the front building line on any lot, and on
corner lots the side yard setback requirements shall be
adhered to on the side adjacent to a public street, and where
the front and side yard requirements are applicable, all portions 
of such structures shall be within the limits fixed by such
requirements.

(3) All antenna systems constructed under the provisions of this
section shall be maintained so as to at all times comply with
the requirements of this section.

(4) The regulations contained herein shall not apply to the extent
that they have been preempted by specific regulations of the
FCC to the contrary.

(D) Roof-Mounted Equipment. All roof-mounted equipment, including
fans, vents, air conditioning units and cooling towers, should be
screened to eliminate the view from the ground level of adjacent
properties. The screen shall be constructed of materials approved
by the Director of Planning and Zoning. Roof-mounted equipment
should be placed and finished in a manner which minimizes its
visibility from overhead views from nearby buildings and elevated
thoroughfare sections.

(1) The overall screening height will be the height of the tallest
element of roof-mounted equipment.

(2) The outside of the screening device should be painted or
finished in a similar color to the building facade, trim or roof

9898



LAND USE SCHEDULE 

LA
N

D
 U

S
E

 D
E

F
IN

IT
IO

N
 R

E
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

 

[R
ef

er
en

ce
 A

rt
ic

le
 1

3,
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s]
 

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
U

S
E

 R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 

R
ef

er
en

ce
 [A

rt
ic

le
 0

4,
 P

er
m

is
si

bl
e 

U
se

s]
 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
MIXED USE 
DISTRICTS NON-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l (
A

G
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
1.

5 
(S

F
E

-1
.5

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
2.

0 
(S

F
E

-2
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
4.

0 
(S

F
E

-4
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

 (
S

F
-1

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

6 
(S

F
-1

6)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

0 
(S

F
-1

0)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 8

.4
 (

S
F

-8
.4

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 7

 (
S

F
-7

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Z
er

o 
Lo

t-
Li

ne
 (

Z
L-

5)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

T
w

o-
F

am
ily

 (
2F

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

M
ul

ti-
F

am
ily

 1
4 

(M
F

-1
4)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

D
ow

nt
ow

n 
(D

T
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

R
es

id
en

tia
l O

ffi
ce

 (
R

O
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(N
S

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

G
en

er
al

 R
et

ai
l (

G
R

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t  

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

H
ea

vy
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 (

H
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Li
gh

t I
nd

us
tr

ia
l (

LI
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

H
ea

vy
 In

du
st

ria
l (

H
I)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
ce

ni
c 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
H

-6
6 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
H

-6
6)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

IH
-3

0 
O

ve
rla

y 
(I

H
-3

0 
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

LEGEND: 

Land Use NOT Permitted 

P Land Use Permitted By-Right 

P Land Use Permitted with Conditions 

S Land Use Permitted Specific Use Permit (SUP) 

X Land Use Prohibited by Overlay District 

A Land Use Permitted as an Accessory Use 

LAND USES 

Office Building 5,000 SF or Greater  (2) P S S P P P P P

RECREATION, ENTERTAINMENT AND AMUSEMENT LAND USES 2.02(E) 2.03(E) 

Temporary Carnival, Circus, or Amusement Ride  (1) (1) S S P P P P P

Indoor Commercial Amusement/Recreation  (2) (2) S  S P P P P

Outdoor Commercial Amusement/Recreation (3) (3)  S S P S P

Public or Private Community or Recreation Club as an Accessory Use (4) S S S S S S S S S S S S S S P P P P P

Private Country Club  (5) S S S S S S S S S S S S  S S S P P P

Golf Driving Range  (6)  S S S P P P

Temporary Fundraising Events by Non-Profit (7) (4) P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Indoor Gun Club with Skeet or Target Range  (8) (5)  S P P P P

Outdoor Gun Club with Skeet or Target Range (8) S P S

Health Club or Gym  (9)  A P S P P P P P

Private Club, Lodge or Fraternal Organization  (10) (6)  S S  S P P P S

Private Sports Arena, Stadium, and/or Track  (11)  S P P P

Public Park or Playground  (12) P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Sexually Oriented Businesses [Art. XI; CH. 12; Municipal Code]  (13) (7) S S

Tennis Courts (i.e. Not Accessory to a Public or Private Country Club)  (14) S S S S S S S S S S S S  S S S P P P

Theater  (15) P  S P P P P

RETAIL AND PERSONAL SERVICES LAND USES 2.02(F) 2.03(F) 

Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales (1) (1) P S P P P S 

Alcoholic Beverage Store (2) (2) S S P

Antique/Collectible Store  (12) S S P P P

Astrologer, Hypnotist, or Psychic  (23) S P P P P P

9999



 

 

LAND USE SCHEDULE 

LA
N

D
 U

S
E

 D
E

F
IN

IT
IO

N
 R

E
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

 

[R
ef

er
en

ce
 A

rt
ic

le
 1

3,
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s]
 

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
U

S
E

 R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 

R
ef

er
en

ce
 [A

rt
ic

le
 0

4,
 P

er
m

is
si

bl
e 

U
se

s]
 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
MIXED USE 
DISTRICTS NON-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l (
A

G
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
1.

5 
(S

F
E

-1
.5

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
2.

0 
(S

F
E

-2
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
4.

0 
(S

F
E

-4
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

 (
S

F
-1

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

6 
(S

F
-1

6)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

0 
(S

F
-1

0)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 8

.4
 (

S
F

-8
.4

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 7

 (
S

F
-7

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Z
er

o 
Lo

t-
Li

ne
 (

Z
L-

5)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

T
w

o-
F

am
ily

 (
2F

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

M
ul

ti-
F

am
ily

 1
4 

(M
F

-1
4)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

D
ow

nt
ow

n 
(D

T
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

R
es

id
en

tia
l O

ffi
ce

 (
R

O
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(N
S

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

G
en

er
al

 R
et

ai
l (

G
R

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t  

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

H
ea

vy
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 (

H
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Li
gh

t I
nd

us
tr

ia
l (

LI
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

H
ea

vy
 In

du
st

ria
l (

H
I)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
ce

ni
c 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
H

-6
6 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
H

-6
6)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

IH
-3

0 
O

ve
rla

y 
(I

H
-3

0 
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

 

LEGEND: 
 

 Land Use NOT Permitted 

P Land Use Permitted By-Right  

P Land Use Permitted with Conditions  

S Land Use Permitted Specific Use Permit (SUP)  

X Land Use Prohibited by Overlay District  

A Land Use Permitted as an Accessory Use  

 

LAND USES 

Banquet Facility/Event Hall  (34)              S   P P P      

Portable Beverage Service Facility  (45) (13)             S S  S S S S P    

Brew Pub  (56)              P  P P P P P P    

Business School  (67)              P   P P P P     

Catering Service  (78)              A  S P P P P     

Temporary Christmas Tree Sales Lot and/or Similar Uses  (89) (24)             S  S P P P P P    

Copy Center  (910)              P  P P P P P P    

Craft/Micro Brewery, Distillery and/or Winery  (1011) (35)             S   S S  P P    

Incidental Display  (1112) (46)             P  P P P P P     

Food Trucks/Trailers  (1213) (57)             P S S P P P P P    

Garden Supply/Plant Nursery  (1314)                S P P P P     

General Personal Service  (1415) (68)             P  P P P P S     

General Retail Store (1516)              P S P P P P S S    

Hair Salon and/or Manicurist  (1617)              P S P P P P S     

Laundromat with Dropoff/Pickup Services  (1718)              P  P P P P P P    

Self Service Laundromat  (1819)              P  P P P P P P    

Massage Therapist  (1920)              P P P P P P      

Private Museum or Art Gallery  (2021)              P P S P P  P     

Night Club, Discotheque, or Dance Hall  (2122)              S   S P P S S    

Pawn Shop  (2223)                  S S P P    

Permanent Cosmetics  (2324) (79)             A A A A A A A     

Pet Shop  (2425)                P P P P      

Temporary Real Estate Sales Office  (2526)  P P P P P P P P P P P P P  P P P P P P    

100100



 

 

LAND USE SCHEDULE 

LA
N

D
 U

S
E

 D
E

F
IN

IT
IO

N
 R

E
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

 

[R
ef

er
en

ce
 A

rt
ic

le
 1

3,
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s]
 

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
U

S
E

 R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 

R
ef

er
en

ce
 [A

rt
ic

le
 0

4,
 P

er
m

is
si

bl
e 

U
se

s]
 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
MIXED USE 
DISTRICTS NON-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l (
A

G
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
1.

5 
(S

F
E

-1
.5

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
2.

0 
(S

F
E

-2
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
4.

0 
(S

F
E

-4
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

 (
S

F
-1

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

6 
(S

F
-1

6)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

0 
(S

F
-1

0)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 8

.4
 (

S
F

-8
.4

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 7

 (
S

F
-7

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Z
er

o 
Lo

t-
Li

ne
 (

Z
L-

5)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

T
w

o-
F

am
ily

 (
2F

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

M
ul

ti-
F

am
ily

 1
4 

(M
F

-1
4)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

D
ow

nt
ow

n 
(D

T
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

R
es

id
en

tia
l O

ffi
ce

 (
R

O
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(N
S

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

G
en

er
al

 R
et

ai
l (

G
R

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t  

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

H
ea

vy
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 (

H
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Li
gh

t I
nd

us
tr

ia
l (

LI
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

H
ea

vy
 In

du
st

ria
l (

H
I)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
ce

ni
c 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
H

-6
6 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
H

-6
6)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

IH
-3

0 
O

ve
rla

y 
(I

H
-3

0 
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

 

LEGEND: 
 

 Land Use NOT Permitted 

P Land Use Permitted By-Right  

P Land Use Permitted with Conditions  

S Land Use Permitted Specific Use Permit (SUP)  

X Land Use Prohibited by Overlay District  

A Land Use Permitted as an Accessory Use  

 

LAND USES 

Rental Store without Outside Storage and/or Display  (2627) (810)                S P P P P    

Restaurant with less than 2,000 SF with Drive-Through or Drive-In  (2728) (911)               S S S S S S    

Restaurant with less than 2,000 SF without Drive-Through or Drive-In (2829)              P S P P P P P P    

Restaurant with 2,000 SF or more with Drive-Through or Drive-In  (2728) (1012)               S S P P P P    

Restaurant with 2,000 SF or more without Drive-Through or Drive-In  (2829)              P  S P P P P P    

Retail Store with Gasoline Sales that has Two (2) or less Dispensers (i.e. a Maximum of Four
[4] Vehicles) 

(2930)                S P P P P P S S  

Retail Store with Gasoline Sales that has more than Two (2) Dispensers  (2930)                 S P P P P S S  

Secondhand Dealer  (3031)              S   P P P P P    

Art, Photography, or Music Studio  (3132)              P P P P P P P     

Tailor, Clothing, and/or Apparel Shop  (3233)              P  P P P P      

Tattoo and/or Body Piercing (3334)                   P      

Taxidermist Shop  (3435)                   P P     

COMMERCIAL AND BUSINESS SERVICES LAND USES 2.02(G) 2.03(G)                        

Bail Bond Service  (1)                  S P P P    

Building and Landscape Material with Outside Storage  (2) (1)                   P P    

Building and Landscape Material with Limited Outside Storage  (2) (2)                 P P P P    

Building Maintenance, Service, and Sales with Outside Storage  (3) (3)                   P P    

Building Maintenance, Service, and Sales without Outside Storage  (3)                  P P P P    

Commercial Cleaners  (4)                   S P P    

Custom and Craft Work  (5)                   P P P    

Electrical, Watch, Clock, Jewelry and/or Similar Repair  (6)              P  S P P P P P    

Feed Store or Ranch Supply  (7)                   P S P    

101101



CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 

PAGE 13-10 ARTICLE 13 | DEFINITIONS 

appurtenances.  This would be the primary use for a property 
and not attached to a Public or Private Country Club. 

(15) Theater. A structure that is open to the public and is used for
dramatic, operatic, musical, motion picture, or other
performance or entertainment-related activities, where
admission is charged per performance or event, and where
there is no audience participation other than as spectators.
Such establishments may include incidental services such as
food and beverage sales and other concessions.

(F) Retail and Personal Service Land Uses.

(1) Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales. The act of selling beer,
wine, and/or liquor or distilled spirits -- as defined by the Texas
Alcoholic Beverage Code -- in accordance with the
requirements of this Unified Development Code (UDC) by a
person, establishment, or place of business.

(2) Alcoholic Beverage Store. A standalone retail establishment
that engages in the sale of beer, wine, and liquor or distilled
spirits -- as defined by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code --
to the general public for off-premise personal or household
consumption.

(1)(3) Antique/Collectible Store. A retail establishment that
engages in the selling of works of art, furniture or other artifacts 
of an earlier period.

(2)(4) Astrologer, Hypnotist, or Psychic. An establishment
providing predictions or readings of the future based on
intuitive or mental powers, astrology, card or tea reading,
crystal gazing, palmistry, or spiritual reading.

(3)(5) Banquet Facility/Event Hall. An establishment that is
leased on a temporary basis before the day of the event by
individuals or groups who reserve the facility to accommodate
private functions, including, but not limited to, banquets,
weddings, anniversaries, receptions, business and
organizational meetings, and other similar functions, to which
the general public is not admitted and for which no admission
charge is imposed. Such establishments may include kitchen
facilities for the preparation of food or catering of food and
areas for dancing, dining, and other entertainment activities
that customarily occur in association with banquets, weddings,
or receptions.

(4)(6) Portable Beverage Service Facility. A portable
beverage service facility is an establishment that sells
beverages from a structure that can be moved from place to
place but that stays at one location during a normal business
day; food sales are prohibited in these facilities.

(5)(7) Brewpub. A brewpub is a restaurant that
incorporates a craft or microbrewery as an accessory use. The
craft or microbrewery in conjunction with the restaurant allows
for the manufacturing of beer -- in limited quantities -- for both
on-premise and off-premise consumption.

(6)(8) Business School.  A business organized to operate
for profit that offers instruction and training in a service or art
such as secretarial school, barber college, beauty school or
commercial art school, but not including manual trade schools.

(7)(9) Catering Service.  A food establishment without on-
site banquet facilities that provides, prepares, and/or serves 
food at off-site locations for groups, where all food and service 
expenses are paid by the group and not for individual sale. 

(8)(10) Temporary Christmas Tree Sales Lot and Similar 
Uses.  A building or land area that provides seasonal uses such 
as the sale of Christmas trees, pumpkins, and other temporary 
uses which occur at certain times of the year. 

(9)(11) Copy Center. An establishment that reproduces, in 
printed form, individual orders from a business, profession, 
service, industry, or government organization. 

(10)(12) Craft/Micro Brewery, Distillery and/or Winery. A 
craft/microbrewery is a small-scale brewing facility designed 
for the production of malt liquors such as beer and ale, using 
grains such as oats, hops, rice, wheat, and barley, designed 
and managed to brew no more than 75,000 barrels of beer per 
year. A distillery and/or winery is a small-scale facility designed 
for the manufacture, bottling, labeling, packaging, and sale of 
wine containing not more than 24% alcohol by volume, distilled 
spirits and other liquors. 

(11)(13) Incidental Display. An outdoor retail sale or 
commercial promotion, not in excess of thirty (30) days during 
any 12-month period, adjacent to an existing permanent 
business operated in the city where the products displayed or 
sold outdoors are the same as those sold inside the existing 
permanent business and where such activity is incidental to the 
normal conduct of business operated by the same merchant or 
his employer in an on-site building for which a valid Certificate 
of Occupancy (CO) exists and when permitted by the City. 

(12)(14) Food Truck/Trailer. A food truck or trailer is a mobile 
food vendor that sells food and/or beverages that are either 
pre-packaged or prepared in the confines of a portable 
truck/trailer, which can be moved from place to place, but is 
typically in a fixed location for extended periods of time.  

(13)(15) Garden Supply/Plant Nursery. An establishment for 
the cultivation and propagation, display, storage and sale (i.e. 
retail and wholesale) of large plants, shrubs, trees and other 
materials used for in indoor or outdoor plantings; and the 
contracting for installation and/or maintenance of landscape 
material as an accessory use. 

(14)(16) General Personal Service.  Establishments primarily 
engaged in providing services generally involving the care of 
the person and/or his/her apparel including but not limited to 
barber and beauty shops, dressmaking, shoe shining, dry-
cleaning and laundry pick-up stations, tailor or seamstress, and 
reducing salons/health clubs.   

(15)(17) General Retail Store.  A facility or area for the retail 
sale of general merchandise or food to the public for direct 
consumption and not for wholesale. Typical general 
merchandise includes clothing and other apparel; equipment 
for hobbies or sports; gifts; flowers and household plants; dry 
goods; groceries, convenience, and specialty foods; toys; 
furniture; books and stationery; pets; drugs; hardware; and 
similar consumer goods. This use does not include uses that 

102102



 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-XX 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE 
NO. 20-02] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, AS HERETOFORE AMENDED, 
BY AMENDING ARTICLE 04, PERMISSIBLE USES, AND ARTICLE 13, 
DEFINITIONS, AS DEPCITED IN EXHIBIT ‘A’ OF THIS ORDINANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF 
TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; 
PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, an amendment to the City of Rockwall’s Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 20-02] 
has been initiated by the City Council of the City of Rockwall to amend Article 04, Permissible Uses, and 
Article 13, Definitions, of the Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 20-02] to create an Alcoholic 
Beverage Package Sales and Alcoholic Beverage Store land use; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the governing body of the 
City of Rockwall in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances of the City of 
Rockwall have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, and have held public hearings 
and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally and to all persons interested in and 
situated in the city’s corporate boundaries, and the governing body in the exercise of its legislative 
discretion, has concluded that the Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 20-02] should be amended 
as follows: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. That Article 04, Permissible Uses, and Article 13, Definitions, of the Unified Development 
Code [Ordinance No. 20-02] of the City of Rockwall, as heretofore amended, be and the same is hereby 
amended as specifically described in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance; 

SECTION 2.   That any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this ordinance shall 
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a penalty of fine not to 
exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense and each and every day such 
offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense; 

SECTION 3.   That if any section, paragraph, or provision of this ordinance or the application of that 
section, paragraph, or provision to any person, firm, corporation or situation is for any reason judged 
invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section, paragraph, or provision of this ordinance or the 
application of any other section, paragraph or provision to any other person, firm, corporation or situation, 
nor shall adjudication affect any other section, paragraph, or provision of the Unified Development Code 
[Ordinance No. 20-02], and the City Council declares that it would have adopted the valid portions and 
applications of the ordinance without the invalid parts and to this end the provisions for this ordinance are 
declared to be severable; 

SECTION 4.   That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, THIS 
THE 5TH DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 

Trace Johannesen, Mayor 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

103103



 
ATTEST: 

 
 

    
Kristy Teague, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

    
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 
 

1st Reading:  May 15, 2023 
 
2nd Reading: June 5, 2023 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

104104



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Continued on Next Page … 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

105105



 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 
 

 

PAGE 4-6  ARTICLE 04 | PERMISSIBLE USES 

(1) Setbacks from Other Uses. The club must be located 
not less than 300-feet from a church, public school, 
or public hospital. For a church or public hospital, the 
300-feet shall be measured along the property lines 
of the street fronts and from front door to front door, 
and in a direct line across intersections. For public 
schools, the measurement of distance shall be in 
direct line from the property line of the public school 
to the property line of the private club and in a direct 
line across intersections.  
 

(2) Exterior Signs. There shall be no exterior signs 
advertising the sale of alcoholic beverages, provided 
this does not prohibit using established trademark 
names (e.g. Steak and Ale).  
 

(3) Alcoholic Sales Revenue. Revenues from the sale of 
alcoholic beverages shall not exceed 40% of the 
gross revenues derived from the sale of food and 
beverages. In the hotels and motels, the gross 
receipts shall include all restaurants and club 
operations in the facility as well as room rental 
charges. The City shall be provided with copies of 
the reports submitted by the establishment to the 
Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts and the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Commission within 30-days of 
the end of each quarter. Combined sales as reflected 
on the reports for the last two (2) reported quarters 
shall be used to determine if the sales of alcohol 
exceed the maximum allowed percentage.  
 

(4) Club Boundaries. The boundaries of a private club 
are hereby defined to be the building in which the 
private club is located, or in the case of a multi-tenant 
building such as a shopping center, only that portion 
of the building in which the private club is located 
which is separately leased or owned, or with 
contiguous internal access should such floor area be 
leased to more than one (1) party. 
 

(5) Certificate of Occupancy. A copy of the permit 
approved by the state shall be submitted to the city 
prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy (CO) 
to ensure that the permit complies with the provisions 
of the zoning.  
 

(6) Allowed uses. No uses meeting the terms and 
definitions of Sexually Oriented Business as defined 
in Article XI, Sexually Oriented Businesses, of 
Chapter 12, Businesses and Sales, of the Municipal 
Code of Ordinances, as it is currently adopted or as 
it may hereafter be amended, shall be located in a 
private club unless such uses are approved as a part 
of the Specific Use Permit (SUP) authorizing the 
Private Club. Any such approved use shall be in 
compliance with all requirements of this permit, all 
applicable requirements of the Unified Development 
Code (UDC), and any other applicable ordinances.  

 

(7) Sexually Oriented Businesses.  
 

(a) Sexually Oriented Businesses shall not be permitted 
within any Overlay District in the City of Rockwall. 

 

(F) Retail and Personal Service Land Uses. 
 

(1) Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales. 
 

(a) The package sales of liquor or distilled spirits -- as defined 
by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code -- shall only be 
permitted in conjunction with an Alcoholic Beverage 
Store, and shall not be permitted as an accessory use to 
any other land use contained within this Unified 
Development Code (UDC). 
 

(b) The package sales of beer and wine shall be permitted 
by-right as an accessory land use to a General Retail 
Store, Retail Store with Gasoline Sales, Brew Pub, 
Craft/Micro Brewery and/or Winery, Brewery, and Winery. 

 

(2) Alcoholic Beverage Store. 
 

(a) An Alcoholic Beverage Store shall include the sale of 
beer, wine, and liquor or distilled spirits as defined by the 
Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code. 
 

(b) An Alcoholic Beverage Store shall be prohibited from 
locating within 1,000-feet of a lot, parcel, or tract of land 
with another Alcoholic Beverage Store situated on it as 
measured in a straight line between the nearest points of 
one (1) of the lots, parcels, or tracts of land to the other 
lot, parcel, or tract of land. 

 

(1)(3) Portable Beverage Service Facility.  
 

(a) The service shall be limited to snow cone stands, 
beverage stands serving non-alcoholic beverages such 
as coffee, juices or sodas.  
 

(b) The maximum time limit of such temporary use shall not 
exceed 150-days annually or a time limit otherwise 
approved by the City Council. At the end of the time 
period, the structure shall be removed from the property.  
 

(c) Any temporary power poles will be removed on the date 
of or immediately following the termination date of the 
permit.  
 

(d) No additional freestanding signage shall be permitted.  
 

(e) The temporary portable structure or trailer shall meet all 
health and electrical codes off the City.  
 

(f) Any such temporary facility shall not reduce the number 
of required parking spaces of any nearby building or use.  
 

(g) Any such temporary facility shall have permanent 
restrooms for employees available within 300-feet of the 
door of the portable beverage facility. Written permission 
from the permanent building owner for restroom use must 
be submitted to the building official; no portable restroom 
facility is allowed.  
 

(h) Any such temporary facility shall be located on an all-
weather (i.e. asphalt or concrete) parking surface with 
adequate space for parking and circulation, unless 
alternatively approved by the City Council.  

 

(2)(4) Temporary Christmas Tree Sales Lot and Similar 
Uses.   

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

106106



 

CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE  
 

 

ARTICLE 04 | PERMISSIBLE USES  PAGE 4-15 

 

(A) Grazing Animals. In the SF-E and SF-1 Districts, grazing animals 
500 pounds or greater, including horses and cattle must have a 
minimum fenced or enclosed area of 40,000 square feet per animal. 
Grazing animals of less than 500 pounds, including sheep and 
goats, must have a minimum fenced or enclosed area of 15,000 
square feet per animal.  
 

(B) Other Animals. An SUP is required for other farm animals, including 
chickens and swine (except for “potbellied pigs” as defined in 
Section 6-1, Definitions, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Municipal 
Code of Ordinances), and for a reduction in the land area required 
for grazing farm animals. The city shall not grant a SUP for any farm 
animal unless it is convinced that the presence of such animals will 
not injure the use and enjoyment of neighboring properties, 
including the impact of dust, flies and odor.  
 

(C) General Conditions. Notwithstanding the conditions above,  
 

(1) Ground accumulations of manure shall be collected and 
properly disposed of so as not to create offensive odors, fly 
breeding, or in any way pose a health hazard or nuisance to 
humans and animals; 
 

(2) Fences or pens, corrals or similar enclosures shall be of 
sufficient height and strength to properly retain the animal; and  
 

(3) In SF-E and SF-1 Districts, no swine or fowl are permitted, 
except for potbellied pigs as defined in Section 6-1, Definitions, 
of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Municipal Code of Ordinances.  
 

(4) In the Agricultural District or on unplatted tracts of land of five 
acres or more, standards for animals are found in Section 6-1, 
Definitions, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. 

 
SUBSECTION 03.02: TEMPORARY ACCOMODATION FOR 
EMPLOYEES, CUSTORMERS AND VISITORS 
 

(A) Temporary accommodations. Temporary accommodation for 
employees, customers and visitors may be provided as an ancillary 
use in commercial zoning districts provided that:  

 

(1) Such accommodation is clearly in support of the business 
operation; 
 

(2) No rental of such facilities to the general transient public 
occurs;  
 

(3) Accommodation is for temporary stays, not to exceed 30 days; 
and  
 

(4) No more than five (5) percent of the building area is utilized for 
this ancillary use.   

 
SUBSECTION 03.03: UTILITY DISTRIBUTION LINES  
 

All utility distribution lines shall be placed underground. Utility distribution 
lines placed above-ground shall require special approval of the City 
Council based upon a recommendation of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. 
 
SUBSECTION 03.04: FLAG POLES  
 

Flag poles are permitted in all districts, but must meet the building height 
and setback requirements for each district. (See Article 05, District 
Development Standards, of the Unified Development Code).   
 
SUBSECTION 03.05: ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES  
 

(A) Restaurants with Alcoholic Beverage Sales.  
 

(1) Restaurants may serve alcoholic beverages for on-premises 
consumption by right if they are located on property that was 
within the city limits as of November 14, 2007, and are located 
in a zoning district allowing such use. For restaurants located 
on property that was annexed after November 14, 2007, a 
private club permit must be obtained for the ability to serve 
alcohol and must be located in an appropriate zoning district 
that allows such use.  

 

(2) Restaurants that sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises 
consumption shall be subject to compliance with the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Code, as it exists or may be amended and 
must be located not less than 300 feet from a church, public 
school, private school (as defined by the Texas Alcoholic 
Beverage Code) or public hospital. For a church or public 
hospital, the 300 feet shall be measured along the property 
lines of the street fronts and from front door to front door, and 
in a direct line across intersections. For public schools or 
private schools, the measurement of distance shall be in direct 
line from the property line of the public school or private school 
to the property line of the restaurant and in a direct line across 
intersections. If the permit or license holder is located on or 
above the fifth story of a multistory building, in a direct line from 
the property line of the public or private school to the property 
line of the place of business, in a direct line across 
intersections, and vertically up the building at the property line 
to the base of the floor on which the permit or license holder is 
located.  

 

The City Council may grant a variance to the distance 
regulations if the City Council determines that enforcement of 
those regulations in a particular instance is not in the best 
interest of the public, constitutes waste of inefficient use of land 
or other resources, creates an undue hardship on an applicant 
for a license or permit, does not serve its intended purpose, is 
not effective or necessary, or for any other reason the City 
Council, after consideration of the health, safety, and welfare 
of the public and the equities of the situation, determines is in 
the best interest of the community.  

 

(3) Restaurants that sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises 
consumption shall be subject to compliance with the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Code, as it exists or may be amended and 
shall not be permitted to have exterior signs advertising the 
sale of alcoholic beverages other than those authorized under 
the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code and chapter 32 of the 
Code of Ordinances, pertaining to signs.  

 

(B) Retail Establishments with Alcoholic Beverage Sales.  
 

(1) Retail establishments or Alcoholic Beverage Stores may sell 
beer and wine for off-premises consumption by right if they are 
located on property that was within the city limits as of 
November 14, 2007, and are located in a zoning district 
allowing such use. Retail establishments or Alcoholic 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

107107



 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 
 

 

PAGE 4-16  ARTICLE 04 | PERMISSIBLE USES 

Beverage Stores located on property that was annexed after 
November 14, 2007, may not engage in the selling of beer and 
wine for off-premises consumption.  

 

(2) Retail establishments engaged in the selling of beer and wine 
or Alcoholic Beverage Stores engaged in the selling of beer, 
wine, and distilled spirits or liquor to the general public for off-
premises consumption shall be subject to compliance with the 
Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code, as it exists or may be 
amended and must be located not less than 300 300-feet from 
a church, public school, private school (as defined by the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Code) or public hospital. For a church or 
public hospital, the 300 300-feet shall be measured along the 
property lines of the street fronts and from front door to front 
door, and in a direct line across intersections. For public 
schools or private schools, the measurement of distance shall 
be in direct line from the property line of the public school to 
the property line of the retail establishment or Alcoholic 
Beverage Store and in a direct line across intersections. If the 
permit or license holder is located on or above the fifth story of 
a multistory building, the measurement shall be in a direct line 
from the property line of the public or private school to the 
property line of the place of business, in a direct line across 
intersections, and vertically up the building at the property line 
to the base of the floor on which the permit or license holder is 
located.  

 

The City Council may grant a variance to the distance 
regulations if the City Council determines that enforcement of 
those regulations in a particular instance is not in the best 
interest of the public, constitutes waste of inefficient use of land 
or other resources, creates an undue hardship on an applicant 
for a license or permit, does not serve its intended purpose, is 
not effective or necessary, or for any other reason the City 
Council, after consideration of the health, safety, and welfare 
of the public and the equities of the situation, determines is in 
the best interest of the community.  

 

(3) Retail establishments engaged in the selling of beer and wine 
or Alcoholic Beverage Stores engaged in the selling of beer, 
wine, and distilled spirits or liquor for off-premise consumption 
shall be subject to compliance with the Texas Alcoholic 
Beverage Code, as it exists or may be amended and shall not 
be permitted to have exterior signs advertising the sale of 
alcoholic beverages other than those authorized under the 
Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code and Chapter 32 of the Code 
of Ordinances, pertaining to signs.  

 

(C) Drive-Through Sales of Pre-Packaged Beverages, Convenience 
Stores, Retail Sales with Gasoline.  

 

(1) An establishment may not offer drive-in, drive-up, drive 
through, or walk-up sales or service of pre-packaged, sealed, 
unopened beverages.  

(2) A convenience store may not contain less than 1,000 square 
feet of retail space.  

 

(3) For purposes of this section, the terms “drive-in,” “drive-up,” 
“drive-through,” and “walk-up” do not prohibit the service of 
food or beverages to customers:  

 

(a) Who must physically leave their vehicles and enter a 
building in order to make a purchase; or  

 

(b) As part of a drive-through restaurant in connection with 
the sale or service of food to the customer.  

 
SUBSECTION 03.06: ANTENNAS  
 

(A) Construction and Maintenance Requirements. All antenna masts, 
towers and antenna supports used for television and radio reception 
or transmission shall be constructed and maintained in accordance 
with the current National Electrical Code and the Building Code of 
the City.  

 

(B) Permit Required. Any person desiring to erect or have erected an 
antenna more than 25-feet in height above ground level, or an 
antenna mast 25-feet or less in height but not erected as required 
by this section, shall make written application to the building 
inspection department for a permit to erect same. Sufficient plans 
and specifications, as determined by the Chief Building Official, 
must accompany each application. It shall be unlawful and a 
violation of this division to erect, or cause to be erected, or to 
maintain, or cause to maintain, such antenna mast without first 
having obtained a permit. It shall be the duty of the permittee to 
request a final inspection upon completion of the antenna system. 
Domestic TV antennas are exempt from this section.  

 

(C) Restrictions and Limitations. All antenna systems constructed and 
maintained under the provisions of this section shall be subject to 
the following restrictions and limitations:  

 
(1) No such antenna system shall be more than 99-feet in height.  
 

(2) The location on the lot of such antenna system shall comply 
with the requirements of this Unified Development Code 
insofar as the front building line and side yard building line and 
requirements are concerned. No portion of an antenna system 
shall extend beyond the front building line on any lot, and on 
corner lots the side yard setback requirements shall be 
adhered to on the side adjacent to a public street, and where 
the front and side yard requirements are applicable, all portions 
of such structures shall be within the limits fixed by such 
requirements.  

 

(3) All antenna systems constructed under the provisions of this 
section shall be maintained so as to at all times comply with 
the requirements of this section.  

 

(4) The regulations contained herein shall not apply to the extent 
that they have been preempted by specific regulations of the 
FCC to the contrary.  

 

(D) Roof-Mounted Equipment. All roof-mounted equipment, including 
fans, vents, air conditioning units and cooling towers, should be 
screened to eliminate the view from the ground level of adjacent 
properties. The screen shall be constructed of materials approved 
by the Director of Planning and Zoning. Roof-mounted equipment 
should be placed and finished in a manner which minimizes its 
visibility from overhead views from nearby buildings and elevated 
thoroughfare sections.  

 

(1) The overall screening height will be the height of the tallest 
element of roof-mounted equipment.  

 

(2) The outside of the screening device should be painted or 
finished in a similar color to the building facade, trim or roof 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

108108



 

 

LAND USE SCHEDULE 

LA
N

D
 U

S
E

 D
E

F
IN

IT
IO

N
 R

E
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

 

[R
ef

er
en

ce
 A

rt
ic

le
 1

3,
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s]
 

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
U

S
E

 R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 

R
ef

er
en

ce
 [A

rt
ic

le
 0

4,
 P

er
m

is
si

bl
e 

U
se

s]
 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
MIXED USE 
DISTRICTS NON-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l (
A

G
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
1.

5 
(S

F
E

-1
.5

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
2.

0 
(S

F
E

-2
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
4.

0 
(S

F
E

-4
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

 (
S

F
-1

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

6 
(S

F
-1

6)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

0 
(S

F
-1

0)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 8

.4
 (

S
F

-8
.4

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 7

 (
S

F
-7

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Z
er

o 
Lo

t-
Li

ne
 (

Z
L-

5)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

T
w

o-
F

am
ily

 (
2F

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

M
ul

ti-
F

am
ily

 1
4 

(M
F

-1
4)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

D
ow

nt
ow

n 
(D

T
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

R
es

id
en

tia
l O

ffi
ce

 (
R

O
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(N
S

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

G
en

er
al

 R
et

ai
l (

G
R

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t  

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

H
ea

vy
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 (

H
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Li
gh

t I
nd

us
tr

ia
l (

LI
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

H
ea

vy
 In

du
st

ria
l (

H
I)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
ce

ni
c 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
H

-6
6 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
H

-6
6)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

IH
-3

0 
O

ve
rla

y 
(I

H
-3

0 
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

 

LEGEND: 
 

 Land Use NOT Permitted 

P Land Use Permitted By-Right  

P Land Use Permitted with Conditions  

S Land Use Permitted Specific Use Permit (SUP)  

X Land Use Prohibited by Overlay District  

A Land Use Permitted as an Accessory Use  

 

LAND USES 

Office Building 5,000 SF or Greater  (2)              P S S P P P P P    

RECREATION, ENTERTAINMENT AND AMUSEMENT LAND USES 2.02(E) 2.03(E)                        

Temporary Carnival, Circus, or Amusement Ride  (1) (1)             S  S P P P P P    

Indoor Commercial Amusement/Recreation  (2) (2)             S   S P P P P    

Outdoor Commercial Amusement/Recreation (3) (3)                S S P S P    

Public or Private Community or Recreation Club as an Accessory Use (4)  S S S S S S S S S S S S S  S P P P P P    

Private Country Club  (5)  S S S S S S S S S S S S   S S S P P P    

Golf Driving Range  (6)                S S S P P P    

Temporary Fundraising Events by Non-Profit (7) (4) P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P    

Indoor Gun Club with Skeet or Target Range  (8) (5)                S P P P P    

Outdoor Gun Club with Skeet or Target Range (8)  S                 P  S    

Health Club or Gym  (9)             A P  S P P P P P    

Private Club, Lodge or Fraternal Organization  (10) (6)              S  S  S P P P S    

Private Sports Arena, Stadium, and/or Track  (11)                  S P P P    

Public Park or Playground  (12)  P P P P P P P P P P P P P  P P P P P P    

Sexually Oriented Businesses [Art. XI; CH. 12; Municipal Code]  (13) (7)                   S S    

Tennis Courts (i.e. Not Accessory to a Public or Private Country Club)  (14)  S S S S S S S S S S S S   S S S P P P    

Theater  (15)              P   S P P P P    

RETAIL AND PERSONAL SERVICES LAND USES 2.02(F) 2.03(F)                        

Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales (1) (1)             P  S P P P S     

Alcoholic Beverage Store (2) (2)             S    S P      

Antique/Collectible Store  (12)              S  S P P P      

Astrologer, Hypnotist, or Psychic  (23)              S P P P P P      

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23
109109



 

 

LAND USE SCHEDULE 

LA
N

D
 U

S
E

 D
E

F
IN

IT
IO

N
 R

E
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

 

[R
ef

er
en

ce
 A

rt
ic

le
 1

3,
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s]
 

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
U

S
E

 R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 

R
ef

er
en

ce
 [A

rt
ic

le
 0

4,
 P

er
m

is
si

bl
e 

U
se

s]
 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
MIXED USE 
DISTRICTS NON-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l (
A

G
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
1.

5 
(S

F
E

-1
.5

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
2.

0 
(S

F
E

-2
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
4.

0 
(S

F
E

-4
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

 (
S

F
-1

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

6 
(S

F
-1

6)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

0 
(S

F
-1

0)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 8

.4
 (

S
F

-8
.4

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 7

 (
S

F
-7

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Z
er

o 
Lo

t-
Li

ne
 (

Z
L-

5)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

T
w

o-
F

am
ily

 (
2F

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

M
ul

ti-
F

am
ily

 1
4 

(M
F

-1
4)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

D
ow

nt
ow

n 
(D

T
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

R
es

id
en

tia
l O

ffi
ce

 (
R

O
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(N
S

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

G
en

er
al

 R
et

ai
l (

G
R

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t  

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

H
ea

vy
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 (

H
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Li
gh

t I
nd

us
tr

ia
l (

LI
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

H
ea

vy
 In

du
st

ria
l (

H
I)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
ce

ni
c 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
H

-6
6 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
H

-6
6)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

IH
-3

0 
O

ve
rla

y 
(I

H
-3

0 
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

 

LEGEND: 
 

 Land Use NOT Permitted 

P Land Use Permitted By-Right  

P Land Use Permitted with Conditions  

S Land Use Permitted Specific Use Permit (SUP)  

X Land Use Prohibited by Overlay District  

A Land Use Permitted as an Accessory Use  

 

LAND USES 

Banquet Facility/Event Hall  (34)              S   P P P      

Portable Beverage Service Facility  (45) (13)             S S  S S S S P    

Brew Pub  (56)              P  P P P P P P    

Business School  (67)              P   P P P P     

Catering Service  (78)              A  S P P P P     

Temporary Christmas Tree Sales Lot and/or Similar Uses  (89) (24)             S  S P P P P P    

Copy Center  (910)              P  P P P P P P    

Craft/Micro Brewery, Distillery and/or Winery  (1011) (35)             S   S S  P P    

Incidental Display  (1112) (46)             P  P P P P P     

Food Trucks/Trailers  (1213) (57)             P S S P P P P P    

Garden Supply/Plant Nursery  (1314)                S P P P P     

General Personal Service  (1415) (68)             P  P P P P S     

General Retail Store (1516)              P S P P P P S S    

Hair Salon and/or Manicurist  (1617)              P S P P P P S     

Laundromat with Dropoff/Pickup Services  (1718)              P  P P P P P P    

Self Service Laundromat  (1819)              P  P P P P P P    

Massage Therapist  (1920)              P P P P P P      

Private Museum or Art Gallery  (2021)              P P S P P  P     

Night Club, Discotheque, or Dance Hall  (2122)              S   S P P S S    

Pawn Shop  (2223)                  S S P P    

Permanent Cosmetics  (2324) (79)             A A A A A A A     

Pet Shop  (2425)                P P P P      

Temporary Real Estate Sales Office  (2526)  P P P P P P P P P P P P P  P P P P P P    

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23
110110



 

 

LAND USE SCHEDULE 

LA
N

D
 U

S
E

 D
E

F
IN

IT
IO

N
 R

E
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

 

[R
ef

er
en

ce
 A

rt
ic

le
 1

3,
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s]
 

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
U

S
E

 R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 

R
ef

er
en

ce
 [A

rt
ic

le
 0

4,
 P

er
m

is
si

bl
e 

U
se

s]
 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
MIXED USE 
DISTRICTS NON-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l (
A

G
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
1.

5 
(S

F
E

-1
.5

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
2.

0 
(S

F
E

-2
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 E

st
at

e 
4.

0 
(S

F
E

-4
.0

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

 (
S

F
-1

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

6 
(S

F
-1

6)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 1

0 
(S

F
-1

0)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 8

.4
 (

S
F

-8
.4

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

S
in

gl
e 

F
am

ily
 7

 (
S

F
-7

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Z
er

o 
Lo

t-
Li

ne
 (

Z
L-

5)
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

T
w

o-
F

am
ily

 (
2F

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

M
ul

ti-
F

am
ily

 1
4 

(M
F

-1
4)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

D
ow

nt
ow

n 
(D

T
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

R
es

id
en

tia
l O

ffi
ce

 (
R

O
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(N
S

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

G
en

er
al

 R
et

ai
l (

G
R

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t  

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

H
ea

vy
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 (

H
C

) 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

Li
gh

t I
nd

us
tr

ia
l (

LI
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

H
ea

vy
 In

du
st

ria
l (

H
I)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
ce

ni
c 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

S
H

-6
6 

O
ve

rla
y 

(S
H

-6
6)

 D
is

tr
ic

t 

IH
-3

0 
O

ve
rla

y 
(I

H
-3

0 
O

V
) 

D
is

tr
ic

t 

 

LEGEND: 
 

 Land Use NOT Permitted 

P Land Use Permitted By-Right  

P Land Use Permitted with Conditions  

S Land Use Permitted Specific Use Permit (SUP)  

X Land Use Prohibited by Overlay District  

A Land Use Permitted as an Accessory Use  

 

LAND USES 

Rental Store without Outside Storage and/or Display  (2627) (810)                S P P P P    

Restaurant with less than 2,000 SF with Drive-Through or Drive-In  (2728) (911)               S S S S S S    

Restaurant with less than 2,000 SF without Drive-Through or Drive-In (2829)              P S P P P P P P    

Restaurant with 2,000 SF or more with Drive-Through or Drive-In  (2728) (1012)               S S P P P P    

Restaurant with 2,000 SF or more without Drive-Through or Drive-In  (2829)              P  S P P P P P    

Retail Store with Gasoline Sales that has Two (2) or less Dispensers (i.e. a Maximum of Four
[4] Vehicles) 

(2930)                S P P P P P S S  

Retail Store with Gasoline Sales that has more than Two (2) Dispensers  (2930)                 S P P P P S S  

Secondhand Dealer  (3031)              S   P P P P P    

Art, Photography, or Music Studio  (3132)              P P P P P P P     

Tailor, Clothing, and/or Apparel Shop  (3233)              P  P P P P      

Tattoo and/or Body Piercing (3334)                   P      

Taxidermist Shop  (3435)                   P P     

COMMERCIAL AND BUSINESS SERVICES LAND USES 2.02(G) 2.03(G)                        

Bail Bond Service  (1)                  S P P P    

Building and Landscape Material with Outside Storage  (2) (1)                   P P    

Building and Landscape Material with Limited Outside Storage  (2) (2)                 P P P P    

Building Maintenance, Service, and Sales with Outside Storage  (3) (3)                   P P    

Building Maintenance, Service, and Sales without Outside Storage  (3)                  P P P P    

Commercial Cleaners  (4)                   S P P    

Custom and Craft Work  (5)                   P P P    

Electrical, Watch, Clock, Jewelry and/or Similar Repair  (6)              P  S P P P P P    

Feed Store or Ranch Supply  (7)                   P S P    

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23
111111



 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL | UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 
 

 

PAGE 13-10  ARTICLE 13 | DEFINITIONS 

appurtenances.  This would be the primary use for a property 
and not attached to a Public or Private Country Club. 

 

(15) Theater. A structure that is open to the public and is used for 
dramatic, operatic, musical, motion picture, or other 
performance or entertainment-related activities, where 
admission is charged per performance or event, and where 
there is no audience participation other than as spectators. 
Such establishments may include incidental services such as 
food and beverage sales and other concessions. 

 

(F) Retail and Personal Service Land Uses. 
 

(1) Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales. The act of selling beer, 
wine, and/or liquor or distilled spirits -- as defined by the Texas 
Alcoholic Beverage Code -- in accordance with the 
requirements of this Unified Development Code (UDC) by a 
person, establishment, or place of business. 
 

(2) Alcoholic Beverage Store. A standalone retail establishment 
that engages in the sale of beer, wine, and liquor or distilled 
spirits -- as defined by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code -- 
to the general public for off-premise personal or household 
consumption.   
 

(1)(3) Antique/Collectible Store. A retail establishment that 
engages in the selling of works of art, furniture or other artifacts 
of an earlier period. 

 

(2)(4) Astrologer, Hypnotist, or Psychic. An establishment 
providing predictions or readings of the future based on 
intuitive or mental powers, astrology, card or tea reading, 
crystal gazing, palmistry, or spiritual reading. 

 

(3)(5) Banquet Facility/Event Hall. An establishment that is 
leased on a temporary basis before the day of the event by 
individuals or groups who reserve the facility to accommodate 
private functions, including, but not limited to, banquets, 
weddings, anniversaries, receptions, business and 
organizational meetings, and other similar functions, to which 
the general public is not admitted and for which no admission 
charge is imposed. Such establishments may include kitchen 
facilities for the preparation of food or catering of food and 
areas for dancing, dining, and other entertainment activities 
that customarily occur in association with banquets, weddings, 
or receptions. 

 

(4)(6) Portable Beverage Service Facility. A portable 
beverage service facility is an establishment that sells 
beverages from a structure that can be moved from place to 
place but that stays at one location during a normal business 
day; food sales are prohibited in these facilities.  

 

(5)(7) Brewpub. A brewpub is a restaurant that 
incorporates a craft or microbrewery as an accessory use. The 
craft or microbrewery in conjunction with the restaurant allows 
for the manufacturing of beer -- in limited quantities -- for both 
on-premise and off-premise consumption.  

 

(6)(8) Business School.  A business organized to operate 
for profit that offers instruction and training in a service or art 
such as secretarial school, barber college, beauty school or 
commercial art school, but not including manual trade schools. 

 

(7)(9) Catering Service.  A food establishment without on-
site banquet facilities that provides, prepares, and/or serves 
food at off-site locations for groups, where all food and service 
expenses are paid by the group and not for individual sale. 

 

(8)(10) Temporary Christmas Tree Sales Lot and Similar 
Uses.  A building or land area that provides seasonal uses such 
as the sale of Christmas trees, pumpkins, and other temporary 
uses which occur at certain times of the year. 

 

(9)(11) Copy Center. An establishment that reproduces, in 
printed form, individual orders from a business, profession, 
service, industry, or government organization. 

 

(10)(12) Craft/Micro Brewery, Distillery and/or Winery. A 
craft/microbrewery is a small-scale brewing facility designed 
for the production of malt liquors such as beer and ale, using 
grains such as oats, hops, rice, wheat, and barley, designed 
and managed to brew no more than 75,000 barrels of beer per 
year. A distillery and/or winery is a small-scale facility designed 
for the manufacture, bottling, labeling, packaging, and sale of 
wine containing not more than 24% alcohol by volume, distilled 
spirits and other liquors. 

 

(11)(13) Incidental Display. An outdoor retail sale or 
commercial promotion, not in excess of thirty (30) days during 
any 12-month period, adjacent to an existing permanent 
business operated in the city where the products displayed or 
sold outdoors are the same as those sold inside the existing 
permanent business and where such activity is incidental to the 
normal conduct of business operated by the same merchant or 
his employer in an on-site building for which a valid Certificate 
of Occupancy (CO) exists and when permitted by the City. 

 

(12)(14) Food Truck/Trailer. A food truck or trailer is a mobile 
food vendor that sells food and/or beverages that are either 
pre-packaged or prepared in the confines of a portable 
truck/trailer, which can be moved from place to place, but is 
typically in a fixed location for extended periods of time.  

 

(13)(15) Garden Supply/Plant Nursery. An establishment for 
the cultivation and propagation, display, storage and sale (i.e. 
retail and wholesale) of large plants, shrubs, trees and other 
materials used for in indoor or outdoor plantings; and the 
contracting for installation and/or maintenance of landscape 
material as an accessory use. 

 

(14)(16) General Personal Service.  Establishments primarily 
engaged in providing services generally involving the care of 
the person and/or his/her apparel including but not limited to 
barber and beauty shops, dressmaking, shoe shining, dry-
cleaning and laundry pick-up stations, tailor or seamstress, and 
reducing salons/health clubs.   

 

(15)(17) General Retail Store.  A facility or area for the retail 
sale of general merchandise or food to the public for direct 
consumption and not for wholesale. Typical general 
merchandise includes clothing and other apparel; equipment 
for hobbies or sports; gifts; flowers and household plants; dry 
goods; groceries, convenience, and specialty foods; toys; 
furniture; books and stationery; pets; drugs; hardware; and 
similar consumer goods. This use does not include uses that 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

05
.1

5.
20

23

112112


	05/15/23 Regular CC Mtg
	 Older Americans Month Proclamation
	 Proclamation

	 Police Memorial Week Proclamation
	 Proclamation

	 Public Works Week Proclamation
	 Proclamation

	 Consider approval of the minutes from the May 1, 2023 city council meeting, and take any action necessary.
	 Minutes

	 P2023-010 - Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of the Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, LLC for the approval of a Master Plat for the Discovery Lakes Subdivision consisting of 289 single-family residential lots on a 316.315-acre tract of land identified as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, Abstract No. 100 and Tract 2 of the R. K. Brisco Survey, Abstract No. 16, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 78 (PD-78) for General Retail (GR) District and Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District land uses, generally located at the northeast corner of the intersection of SH-276 and Rochelle Road, and take any action necessary.
	 Case Memo
	 Development Application
	 Location Map
	 Applicant's Letter
	 Master Plat

	 P2023-011 - Consider a request by Cameron Slown, PE of Teague, Nall & Perkins, Inc. on behalf of the Alberto Dal-Cin of Discovery Lakes, LLC for the approval of a Preliminary Plat for Phase 2 of the Discovery Lakes Subdivision consisting of 31 single-family residential lots on a 27.465-acre portion of a larger 174.5990-acre tract of land identified as Tract 1 of the M. E. Hawkins Survey, Abstract No. 100, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 78 (PD-78) Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District land uses, generally located at the northeast corner of the intersection of SH-276 and Rochelle Road, and take any action necessary.
	 Case Memo
	 Development Application
	 Location Map
	 Applicant's Letter
	 Preliminary Plat
	 Preliminary Water and Wastewater Plan

	 Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract for emergency repairs for the Heath Pump Station with Crescent Construction, Inc., in an amount not to exceed $249,541.00, to be funded out of the Water and Sewer Fund, and take any action necessary.
	 Quote

	 Consider awarding a bid to Magnum Manhole and authorizing the City Manager to execute associated contract(s) in an amount not to exceed $125,000 for the rehabilitation of 20 manholes within the city - to be funded by the Wastewater Operating Budget - and take any action necessary.
	 Z2023-021 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by James Stringfellow and Bethany Rood of Stingfellow Holdings, LLC for the approval of an ordinance for a Zoning Change from a Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District to a Single-Family 7 (SF-7) District for a 1.2811-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 2, Block A, North Alamo Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single-Family 10 (SF-10) District, situated within the SH-66 Overlay (SH-66 OV) District, addressed as 405 N. Alamo Road, and take any action necessary (1st Reading).
	 Case Memo
	 Development Application
	 Location Map
	 HOA Notification Map
	 Property Owner Notification Map
	 Property Owner Notification List
	 Public Notice
	 Property Owner Notifications
	 Applicant's Letter
	 Survey
	 Draft Ordinance

	 Z2023-022 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by Dub Douphrate of Douphrate and Associates on behalf of Dewayne Cain for the approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Freestanding Commercial Antenna on a 0.1234-acre tract of land identified as a portion of Tract 14 of the D. Harr Survey, Abstract No. 102, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 100 (PD-100) for Single-Family 1 (SF-1) and General Retail (GR) District land uses, situated within the East SH-66 Overlay (E. SH-66 OV) District, generally located southside of SH-66 east of the intersection of SH-66 and Davis Drive, and take any action necessary (1st Reading).
	 Case Memo
	 Development Application
	 Location Map
	 HOA Notification Map
	 Neighborhood Notification Email
	 Property Owner Notification Map
	 Property Owner Notification List
	 Public Notice
	 Property Owner Notifications
	 Applicant's Letter
	 Survey
	 Concept Plan
	 Conceptual Building Elevations
	 Draft Ordinance

	 Z2023-023 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider the approval of an ordinance for a Text Amendment to Article 04, Permissible Uses, and Article 13, Definitions, of the Unified Development Code (UDC) for the purpose of creating an Alcoholic Beverage Package Sales land use, and take any action necessary (1st Reading).
	 Memorandum
	 Proposed Text Amendment
	 Draft Ordinance




